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The Group is an integrated multidisciplinary 
engineering services provider serving mainly 
the oil and gas and mining related which 

includes extraction and processing of mineral 
ores industries. From industrial construction 

to maintenance services, the Group is able 
to provide total engineering solutions and 

specialist services across a variety of fields.

The Group’s principal activities are undertaken through its engineering 
division and services division. The engineering division comprises 
of its oil and gas, LNG (“Liquefied natural gas”) projects, fabrication 
and industrial construction business units while the service division 
is made up of its maintenance, protective coatings, insulation and 
refractory linings business units.

The Group services the needs of renowned customers from 
the energy and mining-related industries such as BHP Billiton, 
Apache Energy, Woodside Energy, Alcoa Worldwide Alumina, 
Rio Tinto Australia, Chevron Texaco, BP and Alstom Power.
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Dear Shareholders,

Though a relatively young company, AusGroup 
has succeeded in building up its track record and 
order book to a healthy level. We have also made 
the strategic acquisition of Cactus Engineering 
which will increase our capabilities and service 
offerings and expand our customer base, thereby 
positioning the company well for future growth 
and expansion.

Certainly, our achievements and excellent growth 
in the past year would not have been possible 
without the hard work and commitment of our 
dedicated management and staff led by Mr. Stuart 
Kenny. My fellow board members and I would 
therefore like to thank the management and staff 
for their hard work, commitment and contributions 
to AusGroup.

We would also like to thank all our shareholders 
and partners for their support and their faith in the 
company.

The current strong demand from the oil and gas 
sector bodes well for the future of AusGroup. As we 
enter a new financial year, we look forward to the 
continued contributions from our dedicated staff, 
management, the Board members and support 
from our business partners and shareholders.

On behalf of the board and management, I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank David and 
Eng Hoe, who retired during the year, for their 
support and contribution. I wish them good health 
and happiness.

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Koh Soo Keong
Chairman
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERSLETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

The past year for AusGroup has been a year of 
consolidation where the focus was on strengthening 
lines of support for managers, aligning with 
existing customers, attracting new customers and 
successfully integrating Cactus Engineering and 
Trading into the Group.

This has allowed the Group to achieve a healthy 
increase in revenue of 17% for the year whilst at 
the same time achieving a very credible increase in 
NPAT of 77%, which is a truly outstanding result.

The Australian operations have continued to 
maintain a strong presence in the minerals 
and resources area where revenue has grown 
as a result of continued expansion of iron ore 
project developments. At the same time, we have 
maintained our focus on the oil and gas sector, 
although revenue was lower than the previous 
year.

I am pleased to see the development of people 
and progress at our new operations in Singapore, 
Cactus Engineering and Trading. This operation 
made a great initial contribution to the Group for 
the year after we acquired the initial 76.6% interest 
in the company in August 2006 and the remaining 
minority shareholding in November 2006.

It also gives me great pleasure to acknowledge 
the quality accreditation to AS4801:2000 by our 
Australian operations for their safety management 
systems. I further acknowledge the outstanding 
achievement of our Australian operations following 
the recognition received at State and Federal level, 
where the Ausclad Group of Companies Limited 
received awards for the Best Workplace Health and 
Safety Management Systems in Western Australia 
and also in Australia.

Planning has been undertaken by the Group for 
further growth in the year ahead. I am optimistic 
that market conditions will be favourable in all areas 
where operating divisions of the Ausclad Group of 
Companies Limited provide their services.

Our iron ore mining customers continue to make 
major investment and the industry in general remains 
strong. Investment in oil and gas related projects is 
expected to increase in the next 12 months, which 
will provide opportunities for the Group to build 
on a successful track record in fabricating offshore 
structures and onshore oil and gas facilities.

We remain committed to grow our maintenance 
service business unit, although growth has been 
slower than expected the past year. Deferment of 
scheduled plant shutdowns and a client’s decision to 
change their outsourcing strategy had unfortunately, 
limited our growth to a modest 3% above 2006 
revenue.

I am however, grateful to acknowledge the 
extension of our maintenance contract with Minara 
Minerals for their Nickel processing facility and the 
expansion of our contract with Alcoa World Alumina 
from providing refractory lining maintenance to 
also include mechanical maintenance. I am also 
pleased to recognise the award of a maintenance 
contract by BHP Billiton at their new Ravensthorpe 
Nickel Refinery for repairs and maintenance of 
industrial insulation systems to piping and process 
equipment.

Our Singapore operations, Cactus Engineering and 
Trading, is very well placed to grow and benefit from 
the increasing demand for energy derived from sub 
sea oil and gas field discoveries both within the Asia 
Pacific Region and beyond.

Cactus Engineering and  Trading has been seeking 
to acquire a suitable property in Singapore for some 
time and I am pleased to confirm that a sale and 
purchase agreement has been effected to acquire 
a 30 000m2 property at 36 Tuas Road Singapore. 
This will allow Cactus Engineering and Trading to 
consolidate its operations into a single location 
where it can expand production and extend the 
range of components manufactured to meet the 
burgeoning global market for sub sea drilling and 
production equipment.

Stuart Kenny
Managing Director
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A purpose built facility to house fabrication, 
machining and protective coatings operations 
will be built at the site. There will be space for the 
assembly of large complex components, storage 
of client materials as well as room for further 
expansion of production facilities when required.

A further development for AusGroup during the 
year was the execution of a Joint Venture with 
Hertel, a large industrial services group based in 
the Netherlands, to spearhead work on the Shell 
Houdini project and the Exxon SPT project on 
Jurong Island in Singapore.

I am confident that all shareholders in AusGroup Ltd 
will continue to derive increasing benefits from the 
operations and growth of the Group as we expect 
a continuation of the success factors through the 
coming year and into the future. The Group has, 
over the past months, carefully developed a three-
year strategic plan to identify growth opportunities 
and factors which will impact, or assist in the 
achievement of our objectives. Demand for services 
provided by the Group is expected to remain strong 
for a number of years.

Early identification of additional key resources 
has led us to develop a plan to ensure additional 
personnel can be recruited to fill positions created 
as the Group grows. A peak workforce of 1,100 
employees in Australia and 250 employees in 
Singapore recorded over the past year is expected 
to grow again over the next 12 months.

The Board has approved a capital expenditure 
commitment of $50m over the next 12 months, 
which will comprise plant and equipment such as 
cranes and access equipment for site related work, 
automated processing and welding equipment 
for fabrication workshops, additional precision 
engineering equipment for Cactus Engineering and 
Trading and the purchase of land and buildings in 
both Western Australia and Singapore.

Over the past years, works such as electrical 
and instrumentation components of AusGroup’s 
Australian operations have been subcontracted to 
specialist suppliers. A study of future opportunities 
has shown that this trend will continue and 
consequently,  Ausclad Group of Companies 
Limited has decided to establish an in-house 
electrical and instrumentation capability, which 
will become more active over the next 12 months 
and make a positive contribution to Ausclad Group 
of Companies Limited operations over the same 
period. This division will be able to support each 
of the Australian business units servicing mining 
and resources, oil and gas as well as maintenance 
customers.

Skills shortage is widely recognised as a business 
risk in today’s environment. Ausclad Group of 
Companies Limited has a team of 10 specialists in 
the human resources department, with access to a 
database of thousands of personnel with industry 
experience, to scour the Australian job market for 
employees.

I am proud to share that Ausclad Group of 
Companies Limited is also training 50 metal trades’ 
apprentices. This is expected to increase in the 
year ahead. In addition to apprentices, Ausclad 
Group of Companies Limited provides sponsorship 
to a number of Engineering and Construction 
Management undergraduates in their final year of 
study and also offers them vacation employment.

This initiative provides early contact with students, 
to help attract new engineers into the Group and to 
date, it has provided Ausclad Group of Companies 
Limited with a number of graduates. We look 
forward to increasing recruitment from this initiative 
as more vacancies are created, enabling engineers 
to progress and develop skills which will take them 
into management roles in the future.

Where skilled workers have proven to be 
unavailable, or the source of supply unpredictable, 
recruitment of staff has been directed to South 
Africa, South Asia and the United Kingdom. 
Skilled tradespeople have also been recruited 
from Asia, with welders and pipe fitters employed 
from the Philippines.

Whilst competition exists for Singapore-based 
staff to join our operation in Tuas, we continue to 
recruit skilled workers from mainland China, India 
and Bangladesh to ensure sufficient employees to 
maintain production and growth.

Last but not least, I take the opportunity to 
recognise and acknowledge the continued support 
of the Board and especially thank all staff for their 
commitment and belief in AusGroup over the past 
year.

Shareholders have been rewarded through strong 
growth in the share price over the past 12 months 
and will be further rewarded when the maiden 
dividend payment of 10% of the net profit is made 
in November.

Where the past has been successful, the future 
remains exciting.

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS



8 June 2007
Joint Venture with European-based 
conglomerate, Hertel Group for the 
purpose of participating in work on 

the Shell Eastern Petrochemicals 
Complex Project and Exxon Mobil 

SPT Project.

11 June 2007
AusGroup Limited upgrades to SGX 
Main Board.

15 May 2007
Won a A$6.0 million contract 
for mechanical and piping work 
associated with the expansion of an 
existing gold mine approximately 
200km south of Perth. 

JP Morgan Chase emerged as a 
substantial shareholder of AusGroup 
Limited, with an 8.69% stake.

2 May 2007
Awarded the 2006 “Best Workplace 

Health and Safety Management 
System” by the Australian Safety and 

Compensation Council (ASCC).

4 April 2007
Secured A$26 million contract to 

undertake work for the procurement, 
fabrication and loadout of an 

unmanned wellhead platform. 

12 February 2007
Announcement of half year financial 
statement for the period ended 31 
December 2006.

22 January 2007
Signed an agreement with Alinta 

Energy to be one of two preferred 
contractors. Under the terms of this 
contract, AusGroup Limited will be 
providing construction services to 

Alinta Energy to build new or expand 
existing power stations.

Secured contract with Kellogg Brown 
& Root (KBR), a large American 

engineering and construction firm 
to undertake structural, mechanical 

and piping site installation of an Iron 
Ore process plant and Iron Ore train 

loadout facility for a new Iron Ore 
mine in Western Australia.

Secured contract with CSBP, a 
subsidiary of Wesfarmers Ltd. 

2 November 2006
Secured a A$16million contract with 
new mining giant Fortescue Metals 
Group to supply fabricated structural 
steel and plate work.

Secured a A$12million contract with 
Alinta Cogeneration (Wagerup) Pty 
Ltd to install 2 x Alstom 150 MW 
Gas Turbine Generator units at the 
Wagerup Alumina Refinery 130 km 
south of Perth, Western Australia.

Awarded a A$4million contract to 
manufacture, supply and deliver a 
cold interpass Heat Exchanger to its 
Murrin Murrin Nickel Refining Plant 
in Western Australia.

21 November 2006
AusGroup Limited successfully 
completed 100% acquisition of 
Singapore-based Cactus Engineering.

18 October 2006
Secured a 21-month extension of 
a maintenance contract worth in 

excess of A$40 million.

2 August 2006
AusGroup Limited successfully 

completed 100% acquisition of AGL 
Cactus Pte Ltd

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
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Engineering
AGL transcends new boundaries. 
Over the years some of the most 
challenging industries have utilised our 
diverse range of fabricated mechanical 
equipment and steel structures – from 
complex sub-sea oil and gas systems 
to heavy duty mining material handling 
equipment. With our dedicated and 
motivated multi-discipline construction 
team, AGL is committed to exceed 
expectations.



Ausclad Group of Companies Limited (“AGC”) has 
continued to benefit from continued exposure to 
the resources sector in Western Australia, which is 
being propelled by significant world demand for 
minerals, especially iron ore.

AGC’s performance in this sector was proven again 
early in the financial year with the completion of 
the second stage of Rio’s Dampier Port expansion 
ahead of schedule. This resulted in the Group 
securing a new contract for mechanical erection 
of mine site facilities for Rio at their new Hope 
Downs mine.

A new iron ore customer was added to our 
customer base during the year after Fortescue 
Metal Group awarded AGC a contract for the 
fabrication of structural steel and associated 
chutes and equipment for a screen building at 
their new Cloud Break iron ore mine. Continuation 
of a strong relationship with Metso Minerals has 
been maintained following award of an additional 
220 tonne, 2 cell car dumper for an iron ore 
customer.

Work continued on the CSBP ammonia nitrate 
plant at Kwinana in Western Australia. AGC was 
successful in securing the second stage to this 
project to supply and erect structural steel, piping 
and pressure vessels for a prill plant to convert 
liquids into solids for use as explosives in the 
mining industry.

Demand from customers in the iron ore industry 
is expected to continue into the next few years. 
Demand will also be boosted by other mineral 
sectors such as gold, alumina and nickel.

Major Contracts for 2007

CSBP  - Ammonia Nitrate Plant
Fabrication and installation of structural steel, 
piping, tanks and pressure vessels in carbon and 
special stainless steels.

Rio Tinto - DPU Phase B
Fabrication and installation of structural steel, 
piping and conveyors and installation of vibrating 
screens at the export terminal for Pilbara Iron.

Rio Tinto - Hope Downs
Installation of client supplied structural steel and 
mechanical equipment for a new iron ore mine in 
the Pilbara region of Western Australia.

BHP Billiton - Ravensthorpe Nickel Project
Completion of the installation, testing and 
application of protective coatings to 18 storage 
tanks.

Fortescue Metals Group - 11 Cell Screen Building 
and Conveyors
Fabrication of structural steel and storage bins for 
the construction of a new iron ore mine at Cloud 
Break in the Pilbara region of Western Australia.

Minara Minerals - Heat Exchanger HX19
Fabrication of a 120 tonne heat replacement heat 
exchanger for the Murrin Murrin Nickel Mine in 
Western Australia.

BUSINESS REVIEW
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Mining and Resources

Engineering Division

Adam Portaro
General Manager (Mining & Resources)

Parker Point Twin Cell Car Dumper



AGC’s position as a leading services provider to 
the oil and gas and energy sector has again been 
strengthened during the year. The Group secured 
a new contract to support Conoco Phillips Bayu 
Undan operations in the Timor sea and continued 
a contract with Transfield Worley to undertake 
fabrication of pipe spooling and structural steel 
for Woodside’s onshore and offshore production 
facilities. In mid-2006, AGC transported a 450 
tonne preassembled Bio Diesel plant by ship 
from our Henderson facility south of Fremantle to 
Darwin for final installation and commissioning 
which was completed early in 2007.

The emerging energy sector also provided an 
opportunity for AGC to undertake the installation 
of two 60 MW Gas Turbine Generators and 
associated pipe work and structural steel for a 
new power station being developed by Alinta Gas 
south west of Perth in Western Australia.

The growth in sub-sea field developments was 
also evident in Australia following the award by 
several Woodside specialist service providers for 
sub-sea valve skids and other flow line spools for 
their POG offshore expansion project, in addition 
to  the fabrication of tie in spools for another 
international offshore contractor.

A highlight for the year was the award of a 
contract by Saipem for the design and fabrication 
of a 2,000 tonne offshore jacket and unmanned 
well head platform. This structure will be the 
largest offshore facility fabricated by AGC to date 
and further proves AGC’s position as a skilled and 

cost competitive service provider to the oil and 
gas sector.

The Oil and Gas division has been pursuing several 
projects and opportunities, which will underpin 
growth for 2008 and place AGC in good stead 
to benefit from the expected growth generated 
by new demand from LNG plant construction 
projects.

Major Contracts for 2007

Alintas Gas - Two 60 MW Gas Turbine Generators
Fabrication and installation of structural steel 
and piping and installation of mechanical 
equipment associated with gas turbine driven 
generators including all associated electrical and 
instrumentation services.

Perseus Over Goodwin Project
Fabrication of pipe spools structural steel, riser 
pipes, sub-sea plems and integrated valve skids 
and tie in spools for a number of service providers 
for Woodside Energy’s offshore field upgrade.

Clough Amec - Bayu Undan Offshore Facilities 
Upgrade 
Fabrication of pipe spooling and structural steel 
for Separator upgrade project.

Transfield Worley Woodside Alliance
Provision of workshop fabrication of pipe spools 
and structural steel for shutdowns and upgrade 
projects associated with Woodside Energy’s 
onshore and offshore hydrocarbon processing 
facilities.

Saipem - Blacktip Project, Well Head Platform and 
Jacket
Fabrication of a 100 tonne jacket and associated 
well head platform and fixing piles for an offshore 
gas field development which is part of the larger 
$750m onshore gas plant and pipeline being 
developed by ENI for the Channel Island Power 
Station in Darwin Northern Territory.

BUSINESS REVIEW
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Oil and Gas

Engineering Division

Jason Hughes
General Manager (Oil and Gas)

Fabrication 
of a 
Stainless 
steel pipe 
spool



BUSINESS REVIEW
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The sub-sea hardware market has been fairly quiet 
for many years but strong growth in oil prices and 
continued demand for oil in the past 18 months 
have proven to be a great benefit for Cactus.

Cactus was acquired in August 2006 and AusGroup 
was able to acquire the remaining interest from 
the minority shareholders in November, thereby 
making Cactus a fully-owned subsidiary. However, 
much had been achieved in the short span of 
time. New accounting, costing and purchasing 
systems were introduced and improvements to 
operating efficiency implemented. Staffing has 
been increased to ensure the Cactus management 
team is strengthened to cope with the forecast 
projected additional growth.

Cactus is now strategically placed to take 
advantage of continued strengthening of the 
specialist precision engineering market. This will 
allow Cactus to move along the supply chain to 
manufacture other sub-sea components and 
extend its services to surface drilling and oilfield 
products.

The recent property acquisition should facilitate 
expansion and improve efficiency by eliminating 
space constraints faced over the past 12 months. 
Additional machining capacity had been added 
with plans to further increase capacity in the 
coming year as new workshops are completed and 
commissioned at 36 Tuas Road. This would enable 
all specialist precision manufacturing activities to 
be centrally located.

Hertel AusGroup Joint Venture

AusGroup entered into an agreement in May 2007 
with Hertel Asia Holdings Pte Ltd, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Hertel Gmb Ltd from Netherlands, 
to perform contracts on Jurong Island associated 
with the duplication of Shell and Exxon Mobil 
refineries. Work to be undertaken under the joint 
venture will include insulation, fireproofing and 
scaffolding, all of which require the expertise of 
both organisations.

We look forward to a long and successful working 
relationship with Hertel in Singapore as well as 
elsewhere in the region where the opportunity 
arises.

Cactus Engineering and Trading (“Cactus”)

Left: Cactus Main Office Building

Top: A Subsea production manifold          
supplied to Cameron Singapore for ONGC

Engineering Division

Tham Cheong On
General Manager (Cactus Engineering)



Services
AGL’s Services builds on sustained 
partnerships. Directed by a life cycle 
asset management approach, we 
encourage experiences and ideas 
integration among functional teams. 
Unrivalled in our full suite of in-
house services, we count niche skills 
in refractory linings and specialised 
surface preparation and coatings as our 
multi-discipline services.



Services Division

The services business unit went through a year 
of consolidation. Several plant shutdowns 
scheduled to be undertaken by the Linings group 
were cancelled and replacement work was of 
a lower value, making it impossible to source 
alternative revenue during the financial year. 
However, sales increased in a number of areas 
as customers focused on undertaking preliminary 
work for major plant upgrades planned for 2007 
and beyond.

In line with the commitment to grow the business 
unit, additional resources were deployed for 
business development. This area enjoyed some 
early success, which positioned it for significant 
growth  in the future.

A three year insulation maintenance contract with 
Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations was awarded 
late in the financial year, while another significant 
contract to expand services provided to a long 
term customer could be expected early in the new 
financial year.

The Group has commenced preparation during 
the later part of the financial year to consolidate 
all sections of the services business and relocate 
to a new leased property. The property provides 
dedicated facilities for fabrication as well as areas 
for blasting and protective coatings operations 
and specialised sheet metal fabrication.

Major Contracts for 2007

Minara Resources
Supply of onsite labour for recurring plant site 
maintenance, provision of labour for shutdown 
support and offsite fabrication support for the 
Murrin Murrin Nickel process plant at Leonora, 
Western Australia

Alcoa World Alumina
Provision of plant, equipment, management, 
supervision and labour to undertake repairs 
and upgrade of refractory linings to calcination 
units at Pinjarra, Wagerup and Kwinana alumina 
processing plants.

Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations
Supply of labour and supervision for shutdown 
support and repairs to industrial insulation 
systems.

Miscellaneous Mechanical Works
Supply of labour, supervision, plant equipment 
and fabricated steel for plant maintenance and 
upgrades to mining and process industries in 
Kwinana region of  Western Australia.

BUSINESS REVIEW
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Brad Bain
General Manager (Services Division)

Internal  Tube Bundle loaded and ready for 
transportation from AGC Kwinana to Murrin 
Murrin Nickel Refinery



Corporate Services
AGL’s ongoing commitment to Health, 
Safety, Environment, Quality, Human 
Resources and Training ensures high 
quality, incident free projects. Our 
culture of caring for our people’s health 
and safety coupled with an ongoing 
training programme ensure effective 
employee retention.



Group Employee Services Area

Safety Health and Environmental (HSE) 

AusGroup Limited (“AGL”) continues to forge ahead 
on its journey towards ZERO HARM. According 
to our core value of “No Injuries to Anyone 
– Anytime”, AGL has continued to implement, 
monitor and conduct robust HSE audits across all 
business units. 

AGL recognises that for the continued development 
of our HSE systems, all personnel need to be 
engaged in HSE in an open and transparent 
manner. Where opportunities for improvement 
are identified, management have embraced the 
challenges for change and allocated the necessary 
resources to achieve the successful close out of 
actions.

AGL has progressively shifted the focus towards 
proactive HSE measures (leading indicators) as 
opposed to an over reliance on lagging indicators 
(statistics). 

This strategic shift has been primarily responsible 
for the continued reduction in dependence 
on lagging performance indicators, whilst 
demonstrating an improvement in compliance to 
the AGL corporate HSE management plan(s) and 
HSE standards. 

AGL HSE is an industry leader in delivering safety 
performance under industry and regulatory injury 
frequency benchmarks and standards across all 
AGL business units. The AGL HSE department will 
continue to strive to deliver HSE excellence to 
operations of all business units as an integrated 
discipline of the operations rather than as a 
standalone service provider.

The AGL HSE department has expanded in line 
with our continued growth and expansion and 
currently has HSE advisors supporting all business 
units and projects. With the recent restructuring 
of the operational organisational chart, HSE 
coordinators now assist Business Unit Operational 
Managers and General Managers in reviewing 
HSE data and developing new initiatives to further 
promote the message of ZERO HARM.

Initiatives Australia

Internal OSH & Environmental Awareness 
training for supervisors (9 modules)

The appointment of additional HSE site based 
advisors 

Maintenance of HSE Core Value of ZERO 
HARM

No Injuries to Anyone – Anytime
Respect for the Community and the 
Environment
Development of 10 HSE standards

Implementation of behavioural based safety 
programs

Recruitment of Occupational Nurse for 
Medical Centre

Development of environmental goals and 
targets

AS 4801 Occupational Safety & Health 
Management Systems accreditation

Initiatives/achievements Singapore

Completed risk assessments for mandatory 
activities as required by the Ministry of 
Manpower

Appointed a full time HSE advisor 

Conducted internal Working at Heights 
training

Achieved 6 months LTI free working period

CORPORATE SERVICES
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Engineers reviewing the field assembly of 
twin cell car dumpers
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HSE Lagging Statistics

CORPORATE SERVICES

Fabrication of temporary guide base at Cactus base

Health

Establishment of purpose built medical facility 
(Kwinana)

Continuation of  in-house health and pre 
employment medical assessments

Continuation of in-house drug and alcohol 
screening

Development of health promotions and 
awareness programmes

Environment

AGL business units operate over diverse industry 
groups and contribute to project and, or site 
environmental goals and targets. As part of the 
strategic plan, AGL has developed a standalone 
Environmental Management Plan that will be used 
as a foundation to support accreditation to ISO 
14001 during the first quarter of 2008. 

Training

AGL management recognise the importance 
of continual training and the investment of 
such training has for the continued growth and 
development of the business. All AGL personnel are 
encouraged to participate in specific occupational 
safety and health training, environmental training, 
skill accrual and front line management training.

AGL has developed relationships through 
partnerships with recognised training organisations 
(RTO’s) and industry groups and associations that 
enable the development and, or delivery of either 
project specific or nationally accredited training 
courses.

Recognition

AS 4801 Accreditation

Work Safe WA Winner for Best Workplace 
Health and Safety Management System

ASCC National Winner for Best Workplace 
Health and Safety Management System.

2004-2005

Lost Time Injury Frequency 
Rate (LTIFR): 1.69

Total Recordable Injury 
Frequency Rate (TRIFR): 11.09

2006 – 2007

Lost Time Injury Frequency 
Rate (LTIFR): 0.00

Total Recordable Injury 
Frequency Rate [TRIFR]: 6.70

2005-2006

Lost Time Injury Frequency 
Rate (LTIFR): 1.04

Total Recordable Injury 
Frequency Rate (TRIFR): 9.90



CORPORATE SERVICES
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Human Resources (HR)

AGL has, in the Australian operations, a dedicated 
and focused Human Resources Department 
comprising a Human Resources Manager, a 
Personnel and Recruitment Manager, two Senior 
Staff Recruitment Coordinators, eight Recruiters 
(three White Collar recruiter and five Blue Collar 
recruiters) and a HR Receptionist.

Systems to streamline labour prediction and 
recruitment across all business units within 
the Group have been implemented and further 
refined 

The Human Resources Department has a 
Database with over 12,000 registered applicants 
for sourcing suitably qualified personnel to 
meet the Group’s operational needs.

Continued growth of the industry and 
a tight labour market for skilled staff 
have led AusGroup to recruit locally and 
internationally. 

P.O.G. Project, Rigging for Technip Riser and Subsea Spooling
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CORPORATE SERVICES

The Human Resources Department has focused 
on:

Sourcing additional metal trades 
apprentices into AGL with in excess of 50 
currently employed 

Sourcing graduates from university 
careers expos and employing graduates 
and undergraduates for vacation work

Direct recruitment of labour and staff 
by continued promotion of AGL as an 
employer of choice

Sourcing of skilled labour from the 
Philippines and South Africa (Coded 
Welders and Pipe Fitters)

500 skilled personnel for Structural 
Mechanical Projects such as the Dampier 
Port Upgrade Phase B, Ravensthorpe 
Project, CSBP Ammonia Nitrate Plant 
Upgrade and Alinta Wagerup Project 

Ongoing sourcing of labour for 
maintenance projects and shut downs at 
Murrin Murrin Nickel, Cockburn Cement 
and Alcoa Pinjarra; Kwinana and Wagerup 
Refineries; sourced over 300 personnel

Sourced over 250 skilled personnel for Oil 
+ Gas & Fabrication/AMC facility projects

The Human Resources focus over the next year 
is to continue to support all business units by 
recruiting suitably qualified personnel, be it 
from local and international sources, review 
the recruitment strategy to ensure competitive 
labour market issues are overcome, skills 
upgrading and training for existing staff and 
the implementation of specific staff retention 
strategies in 3rd quarter 2007. 

Quality & Operational Systems (QOS) Group

In 2007, the QOS Department was further 
strengthened to meet the continued growth of the 
Group, as well as the rising volume, complexity of 
quality control and quality assurance deliverables 
from a growing client base. 

The QOS Department in Australia comprises 
a Group Quality Manager, a Quality Control 
Manager with 14 QA/QC staff handling all aspects 
of Fabrication and Assembly inspection and 
approvals. In Singapore, the team consists of 17 
QA/QC personnel across four operational sites.

By combining the QA/QC, Documentation Control 
and Operating Systems departments into a single 
reporting structure, it promotes dialogue among 
the personnel. 

AGL is pleased to announce that its Certificate 
of Registration for ISO9001:2000 Quality 
Management System will be renewed for 
another 3 years after successfully passing a 
triennial audit by SAI Global.   

The high quality of AGL’s work standards has 
been recognised by the industry through the 
following awards:

Australian Steel Institute “Steel Construction 
Award” for the “Linda” offshore gas platform

Welding Technology Institute of Australia, 
“Fabricator of the Year” award,  2001 & 2005

CSBP Expansion 
Project, 
Overview of 
total site, AN2 
Plant
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Mr Koh Soo Keong (Age 55)
Independent Non-Executive Director
   Chairman of the Board of Directors
   Member of Remuneration Committee
   Member of Audit Committee
   Chairman of Nominating Committee

Mr Koh was, until April 2007, the Chief Executive 
Officer and President of Toll Asia Pte Ltd, formerly 
SembCorp Logistics Ltd (SembLog) which was 
acquired by Toll in May 2006.  Currently, he is the 
Managing Director of EcoSave Pte Ltd.  With over 
20 years of experience in the logistics industry, he 
has helmed SembLog and its preceding companies 
since 1986.  Under his leadership, the company 
enjoyed strong growth and successfully expanded 
its integrated logistics operations across Asia to 
become a leading logistics company in Asia.  He is 
a board member of three publicly listed companies 
and the Deputy Chairman of the Agri-Food and 
Veterinary Authority of Singapore.  He holds a 
Bachelor of Engineering (Honours), a Master 
of Business Administration and a Postgraduate 
Diploma in Business Law from the University of 
Singapore (now known as the National University 
of Singapore).  He was awarded the Singapore 
Public Service Commission (PSC) Scholarship in 
1971 and a PSC MBA Scholarship in 1983.

Mr Stuart Maxwell Kenny (Age 55)
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer                    
   Member of Board of Directors

Mr Kenny is in charge of the overall management 
of AGL,  responsible for promoting, expanding, 
developing and steering the corporate plans, 
direction and business strategies of the Group.  

Mr Kenny was the Managing Director of AGL from 
December 1997 to May 2003 and again from May 
2004. From June 2003 to May 2004, Mr Kenny was 
seconded to the Ausclad Meisei Joint Venture as 
its Project Director to oversee the A$100 million 
insulation and painting contract for the North West 
Shelf Train 4 LNG expansion project. Mr Kenny has 
extensive experience as senior project manager 
on many large resource construction projects 
within the LNG, oil and gas, alumina and resource 
refining industries.  Mr Kenny successfully 
completed several major construction contracts 
and received clients’ commendation for his strong 
emphasis on project quality, team management 
and workforce safety.  Mr Kenny holds a certificate 
for Contract Estimation and Supervision from 
Swinburne Institute of Technology, Australia.  He 
is also certified by the Office of Energy, Western 
Australia as an Electrician (Grade A).

Mr James Finbarr Fitzgerald (Age 43)
Operations Director and Executive Director
   Member of the Board of Directors

Mr Fitzgerald is responsible for the management, 
development and performance of the Group’s 
operating divisions. He has been an Executive 
Director of AGL since January 2002 and Operations 
Director of AGL since December 1997.  From 1989 
to 1998, he was the Managing Director of Ausclad 
Industries Pty Ltd and spear-headed the expansion 
of the oil and gas business unit. Mr Fitzgerald 
has extensive experience in steel fabrication of 
production platforms for the oil and gas industry, 
as well as the construction and maintenance of 
production facilities for the resources extraction 
and refining industries. Mr Fitzgerald holds an 

From Left to Right: Mr James Finbarr Fitzgerald, Mr Tan Hup Foi, Mr Koh Soo Keong, Mr Kok Pak 
Chow, Mr Stuart Maxwell Kenny, Dr Chew Kia Ngee, Mr Barry Alfred Carson

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Australian Recognised Tradesman’s Certificate 
(Sheet Metal Worker, First Class) from the 
Australian Local (Sheet Metal Trades) Committee 
of New South Wales.

Mr Barry Alfred Carson (Age 62)
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
   Member of the Board of Directors
   Chairman of Remuneration Committee
   Member of Audit Committee

Mr Carson has over 40 years of experience in the 
industrial and building industries.  From 1964 to 
1991, he was employed by CSR Limited, and rose to 
be the State Manager for CSR Bradford Insulation, 
a large Australian insulation manufacturer. Since 
1995, Mr Carson has been the Managing Director 
of Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd.  Mr 
Carson had served in the Australian Defence 
Force, where he earned the rank of Army Major 
and was awarded the National Medal and Reserve 
Forces Decoration. Mr Carson graduated from 
the West Australian Institute of Technology with 
an Associateship in Business Administration 
(Marketing Option) in 1974.

Mr Tan Hup Foi (Age 57)
Independent Non-Executive Director
   Member of the Board of Directors
   Member of Nominating Committee

Mr Tan is the Chairman of Ngee Ann Polytechnic 
Council. He is also an Honorary Vice-President of 
the International Association of Public Transport 
(UITP) and Honorary Chairman of UITP Asia-
Pacific Division. Mr Tan also sits on the boards of 
the Singapore Charity Council and the Singapore 
Corporation of Rehabilitative Enterprises (SCORE). 
Mr Tan has over 30 years of experience in the 
transport industry.  He was the Chief Executive of 
Trans-Island Bus Services Ltd from 1994 to 2005 
and the Deputy President of SMRT Corporation Ltd 
from 2003 to 2005. A Colombo Plan scholar, Mr Tan 
graduated from Monash University in Australia 
with a First Class Honours degree in Mechanical 
Engineering in 1974 and he obtained a Master of 
Science (Industrial Engineering) from University of 
Singapore in 1979.  Mr Tan was awarded the Public 
Service Medal by the President of Singapore in 
1996.

Mr Kok Pak Chow (Age 54)
Independent Non-Executive Director 
   Member of the Board of Directors
   Member of the Remuneration Committee
   Member of the Audit Committee
   Member of the Nominating Committee

Mr Kok has held senior management positions in 
various insurance operations, including a foreign 
general insurance company. Since May 2005, 
he has been acting as a consultant to Shenton 
Insurance Pte Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Parkway Group Healthcare Pte Ltd.  He has also 
been a consultant to Parkway Group Healthcare Pte 
Ltd since December 2001. Mr Kok holds a Bachelor 
of Commerce (Honours) Major in Economics from 
the University of Melbourne.  He is a Fellow of 
the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of 
Singapore and a member of CPA Australia. He is 
also a Fellow of the Chartered Insurance Institute, 
United Kingdom. Mr Kok is active in community 
work and was conferred the Public Service Medal 
by the President of the Republic of Singapore in 
2000.

Dr Chew Kia Ngee (Age 61)
Independent Non-Executive Director
   Member of Board of Directors
   Member of the Remuneration Committee
   Chairman of the Audit Committee
   Member of the Nominating Committee

Dr Chew was a partner of Coopers & Lybrand, 
Singapore from 1978 and was appointed Senior 
Partner and Executive Chairman of the firm in 1996. 
Following the merger of Price Waterhouse and 
Coopers & Lybrand on 1 July 1999, he was appointed 
Deputy Chairman of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
in Singapore and stepped down in 2004. He 
retired from PricewaterhouseCoopers in June 
2005. Dr Chew is a Director of Datacraft Asia Ltd 
and Courts Limited. He is also a Director of the 
Foundation of Rotary Clubs Ltd and sits on the 
board of the Singapore Eye Foundation. Dr Chew 
holds a Bachelor of Economics (Honours) from the 
University of Malaya, a Master of Commerce from 
the University of Melbourne and a PhD in Business 
and Management from the University of South 
Australia. Dr Chew is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and was 
Chairman of its Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Committee and a member of the Professional 
Development Committee for many years. He is also 
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in Australia as well as a Fellow of the Australian 
Society of Certified Practising Accountants.



19
A

u
sG

ro
u

p

A
n

n
u

al R
ep

o
rt 20

07

KEY MANAGEMENT

Mr Michael Anthony Hardwick (Age 47)
Chief Financial Officer

Mr Hardwick commenced his career in accounting 
with Deloitte Haskins & Sells in South Africa. Before 
joining the Group, he was Chief Financial Officer 
at Advanced Engine Components Limited.  Prior 
to that, he was acting Chief Financial Officer of 
multinational group, Leisure and Allied Industries; 
as well as acting Managing Director and Financial 
Director of Barloworld Investments Namibia (Pty) 
Ltd and Managing Director of Barloworld Concrete 
Industries, subsidiaries of multinational Barloworld 
Limited. He also held the roles of Financial Director, 
Group Financial Manager and Group Accountant 
at the large Namibian owned company, The 
Ohlthaver & List Group of Companies. He has a 
Bachelor of Commerce and a Certificate of Theory 
of Accountancy from the University of Cape Town. 
He is also a member of the Institutes of Chartered 
Accountants in South Africa and Australia.   

Mr Timothy Charles Webster (Age 46)
Executive General Manager Operations

Mr Webster is responsible for the management 
and overall performance of the Group’s Australian 
operating business units. Mr Webster joined AGL 
in late 1999 and was in business development 
and management of fabrication works in the 
oil and gas industry. He left in mid 2002 to work 
on a major oil and gas project overseas and 
rejoined AGL in February 2006. He has extensive 
experience in both the petrochemical and mining 
industries, specifically fabrication, onshore/
offshore construction and facility maintenance 
management. Mr Webster has worked extensively 
in Southeast Asia on major petrochemical projects 
with McConnell Dowell and Worley Limited. 
He has also worked with United Construction, 
Brown & Root and Thiess within Western Australia 
on construction and maintenance projects. Mr 
Webster holds a New Zealand Certificate in 
Mechanical Engineering.

Mr Bradley John Bain (Age 35)
General Manager, Services

Mr Bain joined the Group in 1997 as a Contracts 
Coordinator and is now responsible for the 
Refractory, Protective Coatings, Insulation, 
Maintenance and Upgrades business units of 
the Group.  Mr Bain has contract management 
experience involving maintenance and shutdown 
projects for the resource processing industry.  Mr 
Bain holds a trade certificate for sheet metal work 
from the West Australian apprentice board.  

Mr Jason Henry Hughes (Age 36)
General Manager, Oil and Gas 

Mr Hughes joined the Group in September 2000 
and is responsible for the Oil and Gas business 
unit.  Prior to that, he held various management 
and supervisory positions in the engineering and 
construction industry, including Project Manager 
for companies such as United Construction, 
Kiam Engineering and Alinta Construction.  He 
has 12 years of experience in fabrication and 
construction in the oil and gas sector. Mr Hughes 
is certified as a Technician and Welding Inspector 
by The Welding Institute of England and as an 
Engineering Technician by the Engineering Council 
of the United Kingdom.  Mr Hughes also holds a 
Diploma in Business and Finance.

Mr Adam Anthony Portaro (Age 44)
General Manager, Fabrication, Mechanical and 
Structural Installation

Mr Portaro joined the Group in October 2000 and 
is responsible for the Fabrication, Mechanical and 
Structural Installation business units.  Mr Portaro 
has over 21 years of operational experience in 
the engineering and construction industry. He 
commenced his career as an apprentice boilermaker 
and first class welder in 1979 and had since 
held various operational positions in a range of 
engineering and construction projects. Mr Portaro 
holds a Trade Certificate (Steel Construction and 
First Class Welding) from the Industrial Training 
Advisory Council of Western Australia. 

Mr Terence Hemsworth (Age 55)
Commercial Manager

Mr Hemsworth joined the Group in December 2002 
and is responsible for the Services business unit 
located in the Eastern Region.  He has more than 28 
years of operational experience in the engineering 
and construction industry in Singapore, Malaysia, 
South Africa and the United Kingdom.  Prior to 
joining the Group, he was with O’Donnell Griffin 
(part of the Tyco group of companies) and held the 
position of Regional Manager for Western Australia 
and Northern Territory.  Mr Hemsworth is certified 
as an Electrical Mechanic by the Electrical Licensing 
Board of Western Australia and registered as an 
Electrician with the Electrical Registration Board 
of New Zealand.
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KEY MANAGEMENT

Mr Giuseppe Marci (Age 58)
Business Development Manager

Mr Marci joined the Group in December 2002 and 
is responsible for the development of the Group’s 
businesses, specifically in identifying new and 
potential projects, fostering customer relations, 
preparing expressions of interest and pre-
qualification proposals and assisting with tender 
reviews. He brings with him more than 28 years 
of management experience in the engineering 
and construction industry. Prior to joining the 
Group, he was an Associate Director of Transfield 
Construction, a leading Australian engineering 
and construction company. 

Mr Calum Mackenzie (Age 58)
General Manager Electrical and Instrumentation

Mr Mackenzie joined the Group in May 2007 and is 
responsible for the Electrical and Instrumentation 
business unit.  He has 20 years of managerial 
experience in E&I as Project Manager, Construction 
Manager and Electrical Manager. Mr MacKenzie 
has extensive experience in the oil and gas industry 
and had worked offshore for seven years for 
operations based in the United Kingdom, Norway 
and Denmark. Prior to joining the Group, he had 
been with McDermott Offshore, Balfour Kilpatrick 
International, Gooder Electrical, amongst others 
and had also worked in Bahrain, New Zealand 
and Australia. Mr Mackenzie is a certified Trade 
Instrumentation Fitter in the United Kingdom. 

Mr CO Tham (Age 41)
Executive General  Manager AGL Cactus Group

Mr Tham joined the Group in May 2007 and is 
responsible for the overall management of the 
AGL Cactus Group in Singapore. Before he joined 
the Group, he was based in Shanghai, China 
as General Manager for Vetco Gray Petroleum 
Equipment (Shanghai) Co. Ltd., a joint venture 
between Vetco Gray International and the Shanghai 
Electric Group. Prior to that, he was Engineering 
Manager at Eaton Aeroquip (S) Pte. Ltd. and 
Operations Manager for Holy Engineering Pte 
Ltd, a leading Singaporean engineering company. 
He has a degree in Manufacturing Engineering 
from the National University of Singapore and a 
Management Diploma in International Business 
from the Export Institute of Singapore.

Woodside Perseus Over Goodwyn Project Plem Skid Subsea Structure, Being installed by Technip
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) is committed to ensure that the highest standards of corporate governance 

are practised throughout AusGroup Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), as a fundamental part of 

discharging its responsibilities to protect and enhance shareholder value and the fi nancial performance of the 

Group.  In view of this, the Board fully supports and seeks to comply with the Code of Corporate Governance 

(“the Code”).  

As specifi ed in the Corporate Governance Committee’s Report, the “objective of the Code is not to prescribe 

corporate behaviour in detail but to essentially secure suffi cient practices and respond in an informed way”.

Set out below are the policies and practices adopted and practised by the Group to comply with the principles 

of the Code.  The Board confi rms that the Group has complied with the best practices of the Code throughout 

the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007, with the following exception: 

 Mr Barry Alfred Carson is the Remuneration Committee Chairman but is not an independent Director.

The Code

The Code is divided into four main sections, namely:

 Board Matters

 Remuneration Matters

 Accountability and Audit

 Communication with Shareholders

Board Matters

Principle 1: Every company should be led and controlled by an effective Board to enable the company, its 

shareholders and other stakeholders to achieve their respective objectives.

The principal functions of the Board are:

 Reviewing and approving corporate strategies, annual budgets and fi nancial plans and monitoring the 

organisational performance towards them;

 Reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal controls, risk management systems, and 

fi nancial information reporting systems;

 Ensuring the Group’s compliance to laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal code of 

conduct;

 Approving the nominations to the Board of Directors by the Nominating Committee, and endorsing the 

appointments of the management team and/or external and internal auditors;

 Reviewing and approving the remuneration packages for the Board and key executives;

 Ensuring accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with shareholders; and

 Assuming the responsibility for the satisfactory fulfi lment of social responsibilities of the Group.

Matters which are specifi cally reserved to the full Board for decision include those involving corporate plans and 

budgets, material acquisitions and disposals of assets, corporate or fi nancial restructuring, share issuances, 

dividends, other returns to shareholders and interested person transactions.  Specifi c Board approval is required 

for any investments or expenditures exceeding AUD$5 million and any tenders or bids exceeding AUD$25 

million.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has delegated specifi c responsibilities to 3 committees (Audit, Nominating and Remuneration 

Committees), the details of which are set out below.  These committees have the authority to examine particular 

issues and report back to the Board with their recommendations.  The ultimate responsibility for the fi nal decision 

on all matters, however, lies with the entire Board.

In addition the company has established a Committee of Directors and referred to as the Executive Committee.  

The Executive Committee comprises Mr Koh Soo Keong (Chairman), Mr Tan Hup Foi (Independent Director) and 

Mr Stuart Maxwell Kenny (Executive Director).

The Executive Committee was established to assist the Board in providing greater responsiveness to 

Management in the decision making process of the Group.  The Executive Committee is authorized by the 

Board to review and where necessary rationalize the system of fi nancial approval limits established within the 

Group.  The Executive Committee shall review and where appropriate endorse, on behalf of the Board, signifi cant 

fi nancial commitments including signifi cant capital investment in, or disposal of Group assets and commitments 

to signifi cant contract tenders.

The Board meets at least 3 times a year, with additional meetings convened as necessary.  The Articles of 

Association allow a Board meeting to be conducted by way of a telephone conference or other methods of 

simultaneous communications by electronic or telegraphic means.  The matrix on the position, the frequency of 

meeting and the attendance of directors at these meetings is enclosed as Appendix 1 on Page 30.

Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise 

objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No 

individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision 

making.

The Board comprises 7 Members, 5 of whom are non-executive directors (including the Chairman) as at 4 

September 2007 (date of authorisation of the fi nancial statements).  All non-executive directors, except for Mr 

Barry Alfred Carson (who is a shareholder in the company), are independent.  Together, the directors bring about 

wide ranging business and fi nancial experiences relevant to the direction of the group.  A brief description of the 

background of each director is presented in the “Board of Directors” section.

The Board considers the current board size as adequate for its present operations.  As independent and 

non-executive directors make up over two-thirds of the Board, no individual or group is able to dominate the 

Board’s decision-making process.  There is also balance in the Board because of the presence of independent, 

non-executive directors of the calibre necessary to carry suffi cient weight in Board decisions.  Although all the 

directors have an equal responsibility for the Group’s operations, the role of these independent non-executive 

directors is particularly important in ensuring that the strategies proposed by the executive management are fully 

discussed and examined, and take account of the long term interests not only of the shareholders, but also of 

employees, customers, suppliers, and the many communities in which the Group conducts business.

Principle 3: There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working 

of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure 

a balance of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable 

concentration of power.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Offi cer (“CEO”) are separate. The Chairman, Mr Koh Soo 

Keong is an independent non-executive director responsible for the Board and is free to act independently in the 

best interests of the Group.  The Managing Director and CEO, Mr Stuart Maxwell Kenny is an executive director, 

who is responsible for the business directions and operational decisions of the Group.  The Chairman and the 

CEO are not related.

The Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held as and when it is necessary.  He also prepares the Board 

meeting agenda in consultation with the CEO.  The Chairman reviews all Board papers before they are presented 

to the Board and ensures that Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely information.  

Management staff who have prepared the papers, or who can provide additional insight into the matters to 

be discussed, are invited to present the paper or attend at the relevant time during the Board meeting.  The 

Chairman assists to ensure procedures are introduced to comply with the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, any Director may summon a meeting of the directors.

Principle 4:  There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to 

the Board.  As a principle of good corporate governance, all directors should be required to 

submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals.

Nominating Committee

Mr Koh Soo Keong (Chairman)

Mr Kok Pak Chow

Mr Tan Hup Foi

The Nominating Committee was set up on 13 June 2005.  This committee met twice during the fi nancial year.  

The matrix on the position, the frequency of meeting and the attendance of directors at these meetings is 

enclosed as Appendix 1 on Page 30.  All members of this Committee are independent non-executive directors.

The Nominating Committee:

 Sets a framework to identify and nominate to the Board, candidates for all directorships to be fi lled by 

shareholders or the Board; candidates for all executive management positions; and directors to fi ll the 

seats on Board committees;

 Oversees the management development and succession planning of the Group, including appointing, 

training and mentoring senior management;

 Determines the objective criteria on evaluating the Board’s performance;

 Assesses the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each director to the Board; 

and

 Determines annually whether or not a Director is independent.

Each member of the Nominating Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of the 

assessment of his performance or re-nomination as director.

New directors are appointed by way of a board resolution, upon their nomination from Nominating Committee.  

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, these new directors who are appointed by the Board 

are subject to election by shareholders at the fi rst opportunity after their appointment.  The Articles also provide 

that at least one third of the remaining directors be subject to re-election by rotation at each Annual General 

Meeting.

Principle 5: There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the 

contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Nominating Committee, in considering the re-appointment of any director, evaluates the performance of 

the director.  On an annual basis, Mr Koh Soo Keong, who is the Chairman of the Nominating Committee, will 

assess each director’s contribution to the Board.  The assessment parameters include attendance record at 

meetings of the Board and Committees, intensity of participation at meetings, the quality of intervention and 

special contributions. 

The Nominating Committee also assesses the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Committees of the 

Board on an annual basis.  The Nominating Committee considers the required mix of skills and experience of the 

members, including core competencies which the non-executive directors should bring to the Board, during this 

assessment.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors’ training

As an integral element of the process of appointing new directors, the Nominating Committee ensures that there 

is an orientation and education programme for the new Board members to ensure incoming directors are familiar 

with company’s business and governance practices.    They also have unrestricted access to these professionals 

for consultations as and when necessary at the expense of the Group.

Principle 6: In order to fulfi l their responsibilities, board members should be provided with complete, 

adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis.

All directors review a Board report prior to the Board meeting.  This is issued in suffi cient time at least 5 days 

prior to the meeting to enable the directors to obtain further explanations, where necessary, in order to be briefed 

properly before the meeting.  The Board report includes, among others, the following details:

 Minutes of meeting of all Committees of the Board;

 Monthly performance report of the Group;

 Major operational and fi nancial issues; and

 Product and service quality.

The Board also approved a procedure for directors, whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity, to take 

independent advice, where necessary, in the furtherance of their duties and at the Group’s expense.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.  The Company Secretary 

attends all meetings of the Board, and ensures that board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and 

regulations are complied with.  The Company Secretary also attends all meetings of the Audit Committee and 

Nominating Committee.

Remuneration Matters

The Company adopted the objective as recommended by the Code to determine the remuneration for a director 

so as to ensure that the Company attracts and retains the directors needed to run the Group successfully.  The 

component parts of remuneration are structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance, 

in the case of executive directors.  In the case of non-executive directors, the level of remuneration refl ects the 

experience and level of responsibilities undertaken by the particular non-executive concerned.

Principle 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on executive 

remuneration and for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual directors.  No director 

should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration Procedure

The Code endorses, as good practice, a formal framework for fi xing the remuneration packages of individual, 

with a Remuneration Committee making recommendations to the Board.  In the previous fi nancial year, all 

directors were involved in the process of assessing the remuneration packages of individual directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Remuneration Committee

Mr Barry Alfred Carson (Chairman)

Mr Koh Soo Keong

Mr Kok Pak Chow

Dr Chew Kia Ngee

Mr Barry Alfred Carson was appointed Chairman of the Remuneration Committee to utilise his knowledge of the 

Australian labour market and conditions since a major portion of the Group’s operations is in Australia.

The principle responsibilities of Remuneration Committee are:

 Recommending a framework of executive remuneration for the Board and key executives, including share 

options schemes;

 Determining specifi c remuneration packages for each executive director and key management personnel; 

and 

 Administering the performance bonus scheme and the share option scheme for the employees of the 

Group.

This committee of the Board had two meetings during the fi nancial year to establish remuneration guidelines for 

the coming fi nancial year. These meetings were formally endorsed at the Board meeting held in May 2007.  The 

matrix on the position, the frequency of meeting and the attendance of directors at these meetings is enclosed 

as Appendix 1 on Page 30.  All members of this Committee (except for Mr Barry Alfred Carson by virtue of 

his shareholding in the Company) are independent non-executive directors. Each member of the Remuneration 

Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of his remuneration package.

Principle 8: The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors 

needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than 

necessary for this purpose.  A proportion of the remuneration, especially that of executive 

directors, should be linked to performance.

Principle 9: Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of 

remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report.

The Remuneration Committee recommends to the Board the framework of executive remuneration and the 

remuneration package for each executive director and key management personnel.  In framing the Group’s 

remuneration policy, the Remuneration Committee receives advice from external consultants.  Although the 

recommendations are made in consultation with the Chairman of the Board, the remuneration packages are 

ultimately approved by the entire Board.

The Company has entered into a service agreement with each of Mr Stuart Maxwell Kenny and Mr James 

Finbarr Fitzgerald that took effect from 1 January 2005 for a period of 3 years and concluding on 31 December 

2007. The Company has agreed to renew the contracts of both Mr Stuart Maxwell Kenny and Mr James Finbarr 

Fitzgerald on terms and conditions in the process of being agreed.

The Company may terminate the Service Agreements if any of the Executives, amongst other things, commits 

any serious and persistent breach of the provision of the Service Agreements, becomes of unsound mind, 

becomes bankrupt or found guilty of conduct with effect of bringing himself or the Company into disrepute.  The 

Service Agreements cover the terms of employment, specifi cally salaries and bonuses.  They are also entitled to 

participate in any bonus program established by the Company during their term of service.

All travelling and travel-related expenses, entertainment expenses and other out-of-pocket expenses reasonably 

incurred by each Executive in the process of discharging his duties on behalf of the Group will be borne by the 

Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The directors and Key Executives of the Group at 30 June 2007 were:

Names Position Occupied Remuneration

Directors

Koh Soo Keong  Chairman of the Board Band A

Stuart Maxwell Kenny  Managing Director Band B

James Finbarr Fitzgerald  Operations Director Band B

Barry Alfred Carson  Director Band A

Tan Hup Foi  Director Band A

Kok Pak Chow  Director Band A

Dr Chew Kia Ngee  Director Band A

Executive Offi cers

Michael Anthony Hardwick  Chief Financial Offi cer Band B

Timothy Charles Webster  Executive General Manager 

 Operations Australia

Band B

Bradley John Bain  General Manager Services Band B

Jason Henry Hughes  General Manager Oil and Gas Band B

Adam Anthony Portaro  General Manager Fabrication, 

 Mechanical and Structural Installation

Band B

Terence Hemsworth  Commercial Manager Band B

Giuseppe Marci  Business Development Manager Band B

Tham Cheong On  Executive General Manager Cactus Band A

Calum Mackenzie  General Manager Electrical and Instrumentation Band A

The compensation paid to the directors and the executive offi cers of the Group for services rendered to the 

Group on an individual basis and in remuneration bands for the period commencing on 1 July 2006 to 30 June 

2007 are refl ected above.

Band A means remuneration lies between S$ Nil and S$249,999.

Band B means remuneration lies between S$250,000 and S$499,999.

Based on an average exchange rate of S$1.2176: AUD$1.000 for the fi nancial year 2007.

Share options

The concept of the AusGroup Share Scheme was approved by shareholders and adopted on 14 March 2005 

as an incentive plan for employees of the Group.  It is administered by the Remuneration Committee.  No award 

shares have as yet been awarded under the AusGroup Share Scheme.

At an EGM held on 23 July 2007, the company approved the AusGroup Employee Share Option Scheme 2007 

(“ESOS”). The ESOS has been designed to meet the requirements of the Company going into the future.  It is 

administered by the Remuneration Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Accountability and Audit

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s 

performance, position and prospects.

In presenting the half-yearly and annual fi nancial statements to shareholders, the directors aim to present a 

balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.

In preparing the fi nancial statements, the directors have:

 Selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;

 Made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

 Ensured that all applicable accounting standards have been followed; and

 Prepared fi nancial statements on a going concern basis as the directors have a reasonable expectation, 

having made enquiries that the Group and Company have adequate resources to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future.

Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly 

set out its authority and duties.

Audit Committee

Dr Chew Kia Ngee (Chairman)

Mr Koh Soo Keong

Mr Barry Alfred Carson

Mr Kok Pak Chow

This committee of the Board had three meetings during the fi nancial year.  The meetings have been attended by 

the Chief Executive Offi cer, Chief Financial Offi cer and Group Operations Director.  The presence of external and 

internal auditors has been requested during these meetings, where necessary.  The Committee has also met up 

with the external auditors and internal auditors without any executive of the Group being present once during 

this fi nancial year.

All members of this Committee are non-executive directors. All members (except for Mr Barry Alfred Carson by 

virtue of his shareholding in the Company) are independent.

The Committee is authorised by the Board to investigate any activity within its terms of reference.  It has an 

unrestricted access to any information pertaining to the Group, to both the internal and external auditors, and 

to all employees of the Group.  It is also authorised by the Board to obtain external legal or other independent 

professional advice as necessary and at the expense of the Group.

The duties and functions of the Audit Committee, on an ongoing basis, include the following:

 Reviews with the external auditors, the audit plan, the evaluation of the internal accounting controls, 

audit reports and all matters which the external auditors wish to discuss (in the absence of management, 

where necessary);

 Reviews with the internal auditors, the scope and the results of internal audit procedures and their 

evaluation of the overall internal control systems;

 Reviews any signifi cant fi ndings of the internal investigations and management’s response;

 Makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment of external auditors, the audit fee and any 

questions on their resignation or dismissal;

 Reviews and approves the appointment, replacement, reassignment or the dismissal of the internal 

auditors;

 Monitors interested person transactions and confl ict of interest situations that may arise within the Group 

including any transaction, procedure or course of action that raises questions of management integrity;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

 Reviews half-yearly reporting to SGX-ST and year end annual fi nancial statements of the Group before 

submission to the Board, focusing on:

 i. Going concern assumption

 ii. Compliance with accounting standards and regulatory requirements

 iii. Any changes in accounting policies and practices

 iv. Signifi cant issues arising from the audit

 v. Major judgmental areas; and

 Any other functions which may be agreed by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Audit Committee has presented a report to the Board in respect of:

 The cooperation given by the Company’s offi cers and whether the Audit Committee in the course of 

carrying out its duties, was obstructed or impeded by management;

 The adequacy of the Group’s internal accounting control system and its internal control procedures 

relating to interested person transactions;

 Compliance with legal and other regulatory requirements; and

 Any other matter which in the Audit Committee’s opinion, should be brought to the attention of the 

Board.

The Audit Committee has nominated Moore Stephens for re-appointment as auditors of the Company at the 

forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  The Audit Committee has conducted an annual review of non-audit 

services to satisfy itself that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and 

objectivity of the external auditors before confi rming their re-nomination.

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls 

to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal controls and risk management practices to good 

corporate governance.  The Board affi rms its overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal controls 

and risk management, and for reviewing the adequacy and integrity of those systems on an annual basis.  It 

should be noted, however, that such systems are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure 

to achieve business objectives.  In addition, it should be noted that any system can provide only reasonable, 

and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement of loss, and include the safeguarding of assets, the 

maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of fi nancial information, compliance with appropriate 

legislation, regulation and best practice, and the identifi cation and containment of business risk.

The Internal Auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu performs detailed work to assist the Audit Committee and the 

Board in the evaluation of the internal controls, fi nancial and accounting matters, compliance, business and 

fi nancial risk management. 

Based on the work of the External and Internal Auditors, and management systems in place, the Board 

is satisfi ed that there are adequate internal controls in the Group.  Where signifi cant weaknesses have been 

identifi ed, the Board, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee have taken steps to ensure that 

Executive Management adopts appropriate actions to address and remedy these weaknesses.

Principle 13: The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it 

audits.

Currently Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu performs the internal audit function and reports directly to the Audit 

Committee which assists the Board in monitoring and managing risks and internal controls of the Group.  The 

Audit Committee approves the internal audit plan and ensures the adequacy of internal audit resources to 

perform its tasks. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Risk assessment and evaluation during the year was reviewed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.  Having identifi ed 

the risks, each business unit is required to document the mitigating actions to manage each signifi cant risk.  New 

areas are introduced for assessment as the business risk profi le changes.  Information such as risks, the controls 

and processes for managing risks is subsequently summarised in a risk map, which is reviewed by Executive 

Management, the Audit Committee and the Board.

Communication with Shareholders

Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

The Company does not practice selective disclosure.  In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the 

Company pursuant to the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST and the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”), 

the Board’s policy is that all shareholders should be provided identical and timely information of all major 

developments that impact the Group.  Information will fi rst be disseminated through SGXNET and where relevant, 

followed by a news release.  The Company will also make announcements from time to time to update investors 

and shareholders on corporate developments that are relevant.

The Company will maintain open communications with investors and shareholders and will strive to attend to 

their queries directly, whether verbal or written.

Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at Annual General Meetings 

and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters 

affecting the company.

At each Annual General Meeting, the Board presents the fi nancial performance of the Group and encourages 

shareholders to participate in the question and answer session.  Executive directors and, the respective 

Chairman of the Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees, and external auditors are available to 

respond to shareholders’ questions during the meeting.

Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting will be accompanied by a full explanation of 

the effects of a proposed resolution.  Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the 

meeting.

Dealing in Securities

The Group has adopted an internal code on best practices on securities transactions applicable to all its offi cers 

in relation to dealing in the Company’s securities.  Its offi cers are not allowed to deal in the AusGroup Limited’s 

shares during the period commencing one month before the announcement of the Group’s full year and half 

yearly results and ending on the date of the announcement of the results.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has set out procedures governing all interested person transactions.  In particular, the Audit 

Committee reviews all interested person transactions to ensure that these are carried out on arm’s length 

bases, in conformity with normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and 

its shareholders.  Management provides periodic reports to the Audit Committee detailing all interested person 

transactions.  A register is maintained of all interested person transactions.

Note 26 of the attached Financial Statements details the interested person transactions the Group entered into 

with related parties during the fi nancial year under review.
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Summary of Board and Committee Meetings – Appendix 1

Board
of Directors

Audit 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of Meetings1 No. of Meetings1 No. of Meetings1 No. of Meetings1

P
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n
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ed
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n
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n
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d

A
tt
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d

ed

Executive Director

Stuart Maxwell Kenny M 4 4

James Finbarr Fitzgerald M 4 4

Non-executive Director

Koh Soo Keong C 4 4 M 3 3 C 2 2 M 2 2

Barry Alfred Carson M 4 4 M 3 3 C 2 2

Kok Pak Chow M 4 4 M 3 3 M 2 2 M 2 2

David Chia Tian Bin2 M 2 2 C 1 1 M 2 2 M 1 1

Tay Eng Hoe2 M 2 2

Dr Chew Kia Ngee3 M 2 2 C 2 2 M 1 1

Tan Hup Foi3 M 2 2 M 0 0

Denotes:

o M – Member , C – Chairman  

o 1 Number of meetings held/attended during the fi nancial year/period from 1 July 2006 (or date of appointment, where 

applicable) to 30 June 2007

o 2  Mr David Chia Tian Bin and Mr Tay Eng Hoe resigned on 16 October 2006

o 3 Dr Chew Kia Ngee and Mr Tan Hup Foi were appointed on 8 November 2006
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited fi nancial statements of the Group for 

the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 30 June 2007. 

1. Directors

 The directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

 Koh Soo Keong    

 Stuart Maxwell Kenny   

 James Finbarr Fitzgerald  

 Barry Alfred Carson   

 Dr Chew Kia Ngee (appointed on 8 November 2006)   

 Kok Pak Chow    

 Tan Hup Foi (appointed on 8 November 2006)

  

  

2. Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares and Debentures
 

 Neither at the end of nor at any time during the fi nancial year was the Company a party to any 

arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of 

the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

3. Directors’ Interests in Shares or Debentures

 The interests of the directors holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year in the share capital of the 

Company and its related companies as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings were as 

follows:

Holdings registered in the 
name of director or nominee

Holdings in which a director is 
deemed to have an interest

At
01.07.2006

At
30.06.2007

At 
01.07.2006

At 
30.06.2007

The Company 

Stuart Maxwell Kenny – – 37,408,896 25,408,896

James Finbarr Fitzgerald 35,481,798 23,481,798 – –

Barry Alfred Carson 20,651,518 20,651,518 42,068,502 21,068,502

 The directors’ interests in the shares of the Company at 21 July 2007 were the same as at 30 June 

2007.

4. Share Options

 During the fi nancial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiary were 

granted and no shares were issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares of the 

Company or any subsidiary.  There were no unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiary under 

option at the end of the fi nancial year.
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

5. Directors’ Contractual Benefi ts

 Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a 

benefi t by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with 

the fi rm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial fi nancial interest 

except in respect of remuneration as disclosed in Note 26 to the fi nancial statements and the directors 

received remuneration from related companies in their capacity as directors of those companies.

6. Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee performs the functions specifi ed in the Singapore Companies Act and Code of 

Corporate Governance. The functions performed are detailed in the Corporate Governance Report.

7. Auditors

 Moore Stephens have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

  

 

Koh Soo Keong Stuart Maxwell Kenny

Director Director 

Singapore

4 September 2007
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company as set out on 

pages 35 to 77 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the 

Company as at 30 June 2007 and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the 

Group for the fi nancial year then ended; and 

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to 

pay its debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

  

 

Koh Soo Keong Stuart Maxwell Kenny

Director Director 

Singapore

4 September 2007
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AUSGROUP LIMITED
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of AusGroup Limited (the “Company”) as at 30 June 2007 

and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as 

at 30 June 2007, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated cash fl ow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and 

other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 35 to 77.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements 

in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50. This 

responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and 

fair presentation of fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 

the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the fi nancial 

statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 

the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and reasonableness of accounting estimates made 

by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group are properly 

drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and 

Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

Company and of the Group as at 30 June 2007, and the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the 

Group for the fi nancial year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 

subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act.

 

Moore Stephens

Certifi ed Public Accountants

Singapore

4 September 2007
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BALANCE SHEETS
As at 30 June 2007

Note

The Group The Group The Company The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD $’000 AUD $’000 AUD $’000 AUD $’000

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 31,579 19,167 – –

Goodwill 6 9,264 1,490 – –

Investments in subsidiaries and

 associated company 7 – – 22,310 10,492

Due from subsidiaries 8 – – 7,502 –

Deferred tax assets 9 2,467 335 – –

Total non current assets  43,310 20,992  29,812 10,492

Current assets
Construction work in progress 10 8,396 10,759 – –

Trade receivables 11 62,924 40,126 – –

Other receivables and prepayments 12 1,614 307 70 178

Due from subsidiaries 8 – – – 11,090

Deferred tax assets 9 – 1,137 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 13 16,676 26,393 12,590 11,141

Total current assets  89,610 78,722  12,660 22,409

Total assets  132,920 99,714  42,472 32,901

Equity and Liabilities

Capital and reserves
Issued capital 14 43,159 30,371 43,159 30,371

Foreign currency translation reserve (2,115) 1,285 (2,106) 1,148

Retained earnings 34,688 15,555 1,113 900

Total equity  75,732 47,211  42,166 32,419

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 9 1,404 269 – –

Borrowings 15 5,803 4,856 – –

Other payables 16 2,890 2,876 – –

Total non-current liabilities 10,097 8,001  – –

Current liabilities
Progress billings in excess of

 construction work in progress  10 4,076 5,658 – –

Trade payables 17 17,704 20,243 75 41

Other payables 16 8,899 4,167 292 208

Provisions for other liabilities and

 charges 18 7,107 3,736 – –

Current income tax liabilities 5,476 2,751 (61) 233

Deferred tax liabilities 9 – 42 – –

Borrowings 15 3,829 7,905 – –

Total current liabilities  47,091 44,502  306 482

Total liabilities and equity 132,920 99,714  42,472 32,901

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

The  Group
Year Year

Ended Ended

  Note
30.6.2007 30.6.2006
AUD $’000 AUD $’000

Revenue 19 281,131  240,049 

Cost of sales (219,633) (201,420)

Gross profi t  61,498  38,629

Other operating income 20 1,935  783 

Other operating costs (19,355) (11,871)

Administrative expenses (15,333) (9,392)

Marketing and distribution expenses (434) –

Profi t from operations 21 28,311  18,149 

Finance costs 22 (1,252) ( 2,266)

Profi t before taxation  27,059  15,883 

Taxation 23 (7,151) ( 4,604)

Net profi t for the year  19,908  11,279 

Attibutable to:

Equity holders of the Company 19,133 11,279

Minority interests 775 –

19,908 11,279

Earnings per share to equity holders of the Company 

 (AUD cents)

Basic 24  4.9 3.7

Diluted 24  4.9 3.7

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

Share 
Capital

Share 
Premium

Currency 
Translation 

Reserve
Retained 
Earnings

Minority 
Interest

Total 
Equity 

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Balance at 1 July 2006 30,371 – 1,285 15,555 – 47,211 

Loss recognised directly in

 equity – Foreign currency

 translation difference – – (3,400) – – (3,400)

Net profi t for the year – – – 19,133 775 19,908

Completion in acquisition of

 subsidiary – – – – (775) (775)

Total recognised (losses)/gains – – (3,400) 19,133 – 15,733

Issue of shares 12,788 – – – – 12,788

Balance at 30 June 2007 43,159 – (2,115) 34,688 – 75,732

Balance at 1 July 2005 11,720 9,316 260 4,276 – 25,572 

Gain recognised directly in

 equity – Foreign currency

 translation difference – – 1,025 – – 1,025

Net profi t for the year – – – 11,279 – 11,279

Total recognised gains – – 1,025 11,279 – 12,304

Issue of shares 9,551 – – – – 9,551

Share issue expenses (216) – – – – (216)

Appropriation of share 

 premium to share capital 9,316 (9,316) – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2006 30,371 – 1,285 15,555 – 47,211 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

The Group
Year Year

Ended Ended
30.6.2007 30.6.2006

Note AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Cash fl ows from Operating Activities
Profi t before taxation 27,059  15,883 

Adjustments for:

 Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant & equipment 3,824  2,522 

 Reversal of impairment loss on leasehold properties (462) –

 Profi t on disposal of property, plant & equipment (112) (4)

 Interest income (630) (303)

 Interest expense 1,489  1,508 

Operating cash fl ows before working capital changes 31,168  19,606 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of effects from

acquisition of subsidiaries

 Construction work in progress 4,952  3,009 

 Trade receivables (16,136) (17,794)

 Other receivables and prepayments 57 (157)

 Trade and other payables (2,197)  2,453 

 Provisions for liabilities and other charges 3,371  1,195 

Cash generated from operations 21,215  8,312 

Interest paid (1,489) (1,508)

Interest received 630  303 

Income tax paid (6,178) (4,967)

Net cash generated from operating activities 14,178  2,140 

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant & equipment 319  111 

Purchases of property, plant & equipment (7,151) (3,099)

Net cash outfl ow on acquisition of subsidiaries A (3,490) (4,748)

Net cash used in investing activities (10,322) (7,736)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares –  9,335 

Proceeds from borrowings 3,316  4,609 

Repayment of loans by directors and director related entities – (975)

Repayment of borrowings (13,489) (1,757)

Net cash (used in)/generated from fi nancing activities (10,173)  11,212 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,317)  5,616 

Effect of exchange rate changes (3,400)  1,025 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 26,393  19,752 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 13 16,676  26,393 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

Note: A   
Summary of the effects of acquisition of subsidiaries 
  
The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are as follows:  

The Group
Year Year

Ended Ended
30.6.2007 30.6.2006
AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 650  709 

Trade receivables 7,262  824 

Inventories and construction work in progress 4,548 –

Other receivables and prepayments 2,316 –

Property, plant & equipment 9,632  4,762 

Intangible assets – Goodwill 1,294 –

Deferred tax liability (1,415) (131)

Trade and other payables (5,784) (178)

Provision for liabilities and other charges – (400)

Borrowings (7,679) –

Provision for taxation (628) (276)

Identifi able net assets 10,196  5,310 

Less: Minority interest (775) –

Identifi able net assets acquired 9,421 5,310

Goodwill 7,507 147

16,928 5,457

Shares issued as consideration (12,788) –

Less: Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired (650)  (709) 

Net cash outfl ow on acquisition 3,490 4,748

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying fi nancial 

statements.

1. General

 The Company is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Singapore and its shares are 

publicly traded on the Singapore Exchange. The address of its registered offi ce is 138 Robinson Road, 

#17-00, The Corporate Offi ce, Singapore 068906 and its principal place of business is Level 5, 553 Hay 

Street, Perth, Western Australia, 6000.

 The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of 

the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 7.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company for the 

fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board 

of Directors of the Company on 4 September 2007.

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies

 (a) Basis of Preparation

  The fi nancial statements, which are expressed in Australian Dollar (“AUD$”), have been prepared 

in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards (“FRS”). These fi nancial statements have been prepared under the historical 

cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. 

  The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise 

its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use 

of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of 

the fi nancial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the fi nancial 

year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events 

and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates. Critical accounting estimates 

and assumptions used that are signifi cant to the fi nancial statements and areas involving a higher 

degree of judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 3.

 (b) Adoption of New/Revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards

 

  During the current fi nancial year, the Group has adopted all the revised Standards and new 

Interpretations issued that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning 

on 1 July 2006.  The adoption of these new/revised Standards and Interpretations has had no 

material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group.

  FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet effective

  At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the Group has not applied the following 

relevant new FRS and INT FRS (Interpretations FRS) that have been issued but only effective for 

the Group’s annual fi nancial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007:

  FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

  FRS 108 Operating Segments

  INT FRS 110 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 

  The directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods 

will not have any material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group except for FRS 107 and 

FRS 108.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (b) Adoption of New/Revised Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (cont’d)

  FRS 107

  This Standard, effective for annual fi nancial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007, requires 

quantitative disclosures that enable users of the fi nancial statements to evaluate the signifi cance 

of the Group’s fi nancial instruments, and the nature and extent of risks arising from those fi nancial 

instruments, in addition to the disclosures currently required under FRS 32.

  The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of FRS 107 upon initial 

application. It has so far concluded, that while the adoption of FRS 107 may result in additional 

and amended disclosures, it is unlikely to have a signifi cant impact on the Group’s operating 

results and fi nancial position.

  FRS 108 

  This Standard, effective for annual fi nancial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, requires 

additional disclosures of information about the Group’s operating segments and also about 

the entity’s products and services, the geographical areas in which it operates, and its major 

customers.

  The Group is unable to assess the impact on its fi nancial statements, following the adoption of 

INT FRS 110 as at 30 June 2007.

 (c) Principles of Consolidation 

  Subsidiaries

  The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the Company and 

entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 June each year. Control is 

achieved where the Company has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies of an 

investee entity so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities. Where necessary, adjustments are made 

to the fi nancial statements of controlled entities to bring the accounting policies used in line with 

those used by the Group.

  On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a controlled entity are 

measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition using the purchase method. Costs directly 

attributable to an acquisition are included as part of the cost of acquisition. Any excess of the cost 

of acquisition over the fair values of the identifi able net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill 

(Note 2(d)). 

  The results of controlled entities acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 

income statement from the effective date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group gains 

control, up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. All intra-group transactions, balances, 

income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

  Associated companies

  Associated companies are entities over which the Group has signifi cant infl uence, but not control, 

generally accompanying a shareholding of between and including 20% and 50% of the voting 

rights.  Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated fi nancial 

statements using the equity method of accounting.  Investments in associated companies in the 

consolidated balance sheet include goodwill identifi ed on acquisition, where applicable (Note 2(d)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (c) Principles of Consolidation (cont’d)

  Associated companies (cont’d)

  Equity accounting involves recording investments in associated companies initially at cost, and 

recognising the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition results and its share 

of post-acquisition movements in reserves against the carrying amount of the investments. Costs 

directly attributable to an acquisition are included as part of the cost of acquisition. When the 

Group’s share of losses in an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the associated 

company, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, 

unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated company. In 

applying the equity method of accounting, unrealised gains on transactions between the Group 

and its associated companies are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated 

companies. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 

an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial 

statements of associated companies to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those of 

the Group.

 (d) Goodwill 

  Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity represents the excess 

of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities of a controlled entity, or jointly controlled entity at the date of 

acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an intangible asset at cost and is subsequently 

measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill on acquisition of associated 

companies is included in investments in associated companies.

  On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is 

included in the determination of profi t and loss on disposal. 

 (e) Property, Plant and Equipment

  Measurement

  (i) Land and buildings

   Land and buildings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

  (ii) Other property, plant and equipment

   All other items of property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

  (iii) Components of costs

   The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration 

costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation 

for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or 

using the asset. Expenditure for additions, improvements and renewals is capitalised and 

expenditure for maintenance and repairs is charged to the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (e) Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

  Depreciation

  Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is 

calculated using the straight line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated 

useful lives on the following bases:  

  Freehold buildings - 2.5%

  Leasehold buildings - over the life of the lease

  Plant and equipment - 7.5 - 40%

  The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed and adjusted 

as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision of the residual values and 

useful lives are included in the income statement for the fi nancial year in which the changes arise.

  Subsequent expenditure

  Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been 

recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic 

benefi ts, in excess of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, 

will fl ow to the Group and the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is 

recognised as an expense during the year in which it is incurred.

  Disposal

  On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to the income statement.

 (f) Investments in Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associated Companies

  Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies are stated in the fi nancial 

statements of the Company at cost less any impairment losses.

  On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies, the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investments is taken to the 

income statement.

 (g) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

  Goodwill

  Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, as well as when there is any indication that the goodwill 

may be impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each 

of the Group’s cash-generating-units (CGU) expected to benefi t from synergies of the business 

combination.

  An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement when the carrying amount of the CGU, 

including the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the CGU.  Recoverable amount of the 

CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less cost to sell and value in use.

  The total impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to 

the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of 

each asset in the CGU.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (g) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (cont’d)

  Goodwill (cont’d)

  Impairment loss on goodwill is recognised in the income statement and is not reversed in a 

subsequent period.

  Property, plant and equipment, Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

  Property, plant and equipment, investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are 

reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that these assets may be impaired.  If 

any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell 

and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.

  For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an 

individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash fl ows that are largely independent 

of those from other assets.  If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to 

which the asset belongs to.

  If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 

the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  The impairment 

loss is recognised in the income statement. 

  An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the 

estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 

recognised.  The carrying amount of an asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, 

provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 

(net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 

prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the 

relevant assets are carried at revalued amounts, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss 

is treated as a revaluation increase.  However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same 

revalued asset was previously recognised in the income statement, a reversal of that impairment is 

also recognised in the income statement.

 (h) Construction Contracts

  A construction contract is a contract specifi cally negotiated for the construction of an asset or 

a combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, 

technology and functions or their ultimate purpose or use. Contract costs are recognised when 

incurred.

  Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and 

contract costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at 

the balance sheet date. This is normally measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred 

for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would 

not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract works, claims and incentive 

payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with the customer.

  Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue 

is recognised to the extent of the contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. 

Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. When it is 

probable that the total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is 

recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (h) Construction Contracts (cont’d)

  Costs incurred during the year in connection with future activity on a contract are excluded from 

costs incurred to date when determining the stage of completion of a contract.  Such costs are 

shown as construction work in progress. The aggregate of the costs incurred and the profi t/

loss recognised on each contract is compared against the progress billings up to the year end. 

Where costs incurred and recognised profi ts (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, 

the balance is shown as construction work in progress. Where progress billings exceed costs 

incurred plus recognised profi ts (less recognised losses), the balance is shown as progress billings 

in excess of construction work in progress under current liabilities

 (i) Financial Instruments

  Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the 

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

  Trade and Other Receivables

  Trade and other receivables, which are normally settled on 30 to 75 days term and amounts due 

from subsidiaries are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

costs using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An allowance for 

impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 

be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount 

of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the 

allowance is recognised in the income statement. 

  Cash and Cash Equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks or fi nancial institutions, fi xed 

deposits and bank overdrafts, which form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. Cash 

and cash equivalents are short-term and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and that are subject to insignifi cant risk of changes in value. 

  Trade and Other Payables

  Trade and other payables, which are normally settled on 30 to 90 days term and amounts due to 

subsidiaries, are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

  Borrowings 

  Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received less directly 

attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 

transaction costs) and the redemption value is taken to the consolidated income statement over 

the period of the borrowings. 

  Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the balance sheet date are 

included in the current borrowings in the balance sheet even though the original term was for a 

period longer than twelve months and an agreement to refi nance, or to reschedule payments, on a 

long-term basis is completed after the balance sheet date and before the fi nancial statements are 

authorised for issue.  Other borrowings to be settled more than twelve months after the balance 

sheet date are included in non-current borrowings in the balance sheet.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
 

 (j) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, where it is probable that an outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts will be 

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are 

measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the 

balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 

 (k) Share Capital

  Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of 

new equity instruments are taken to equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

 (l) Leases

  Finance Leases 

  Assets acquired on hire purchase arrangements are capitalised and the corresponding obligations 

treated as a liability. The total interest, being the difference between the total instalments payable 

and the capitalised amount, is charged to the consolidated income statement over the period 

of such hire purchase arrangements in equal monthly instalments to produce a constant rate of 

charge on the balance of capital repayments outstanding. 

  Operating Leases

  Leases of plant and equipment where a signifi cant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership 

are retained by the lessor are classifi ed as operating leases. Payments made under operating 

leases are charged to consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the period 

of the leases. When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any 

payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the 

period in which termination takes place.

 (m) Revenue Recognition

  Short-term contracts

  Revenue from short-term contracts is recognised upon completion, delivery and acceptance by 

customer and the collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

  Construction contracts

  Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting 

policy on construction contracts (Note 2(h)).

  Interest income

  Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

effective interest rate applicable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (n) Employee Benefi ts

  Defi ned contribution plans

  Defi ned contribution plans are post-employment benefi ts plans under which the Group pays fi xed 

contributions into separate entities. The Group participates in the national schemes as defi ned 

by the laws of the countries in which it operates. The Group’s contributions are recognised as 

expense in the consolidated income statement as and when they are incurred.  

  Termination benefi ts

  Termination benefi ts are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement 

date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefi ts. The 

Group recognises termination benefi ts when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating 

the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of 

withdrawal; or providing termination benefi ts as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 

redundancy.  

 (o) Dividend

  Interim dividends are recorded in the fi nancial year in which they are declared payable.  Final 

dividends are recorded in the financial year in which the dividends are approved by the 

shareholders.

 (p) Currency Translation

  Functional and presentation currency

  Items included in the fi nancial statements of each of the entity in the Group are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional 

currency”). The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in AUD$, which is the Group’s 

functional currency, as it best refl ects the economic substance of the underlying events and 

circumstances relevant to the Group.

  Transactions and balances

  Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated 

into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Currency translation gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 

the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement, except for currency translation 

differences on net investment in foreign entities and borrowings and other currency instruments 

qualifying as net investment hedges for foreign operations.  

  Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair values are determined.

  Currency translation differences on non-monetary items, whereby the gains or losses are 

recognised in the consolidated income statement, such as equity instruments held at fair value 

through profi t or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (p) Currency Translation (cont’d)

  Translation of Group entities’ fi nancial statements

  The results and fi nancial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a 

hyperinfl ationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 

are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

  –  Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at 

the date of the balance sheet;

  –  Income and expenses for the income statement are translated at average exchange rates 

(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 

prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at 

the dates of the transactions); and

  – All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve 

within equity.

  Consolidation adjustments

  On consolidation, currency translation differences arising from the net investment in foreign entities 

and borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments are 

taken to foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is disposed of, such 

currency translation differences are recognised in the consolidated income statement as part of 

the gain or loss on disposal.

 (q) Income and Deferred Income Taxes

  Current income tax liabilities for current and prior periods are recognised at the amounts expected 

to be paid to the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. 

  Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated 

fi nancial statements. However, if the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset 

or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 

affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss, it is not accounted for. 

  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 

substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related 

deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

  Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profi t will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

  Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

2. Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

 (r) Segment Reporting

  A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products 

that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A 

geographical segment is based on the location of customers regardless of where the goods are 

produced. The assets and capital expenditure are based on the location of those assets.

  Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments and 

between geographical segments. Such transfers are accounted for on an arm’s length basis.

3.  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

 Estimates and assumptions concerning the future are made in the preparation of the fi nancial statements. 

They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an ongoing basis and are based on 

experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances.  

 (i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the balance sheet date that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.

  Impairment

  The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specifi c to the 

Group that may lead to impairment of assets:

  Property, plant and equipment consist of freehold as well as leasehold land and buildings, 

equipment and production plant. The value of these assets is assessed internally annually with 

respect to the local market and also the condition and expected remaining life of the asset. No 

impairment of property, plant and equipment has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 

2007.

  The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires 

an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill has been 

allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected 

future cash fl ows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in 

order to calculate the present value of those cash fl ows. The carrying amount of the Group’s 

goodwill as at 30 June 2007 was AUD$9,264,000 (2006: AUD$1,490,000) and no impairment 

loss has been recognised for the current fi nancial year.

  Construction contracts

  The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its contract revenue 

where it is probable that contract costs are recoverable. The stage of completion is measured 

by reference to the contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total costs for the contract. 

Signifi cant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the 

contract costs incurred, the estimated total contract revenue and contract costs, as well as the 

recoverability of the contracts. Total contract revenue also includes an estimation of the variation 

works and claims that are recoverable from the customers. In making the judgement, the Group 

has relied on past experience and the work of specialists. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

3.  Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (cont’d)
 

 (i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

 

  Workers compensation insurance

 

  Due to the terms of the Group’s workers compensation insurance contracts, which are dependent 

on the claims history each fi nancial year, the fi nal assessment for the workers compensation 

premiums only occurs three years after the close of each fi nancial year. The Group is therefore 

required to assess the likely charge and accrue the costs accordingly. This estimation is done in 

conjunction with our insurance brokers who track the current and potential claims and assess the 

likelihood of success of each claim. 

 

 (ii)  Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

 

  In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made certain 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have signifi cant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the fi nancial statements. 

  Impairment of Investments and Financial Assets

  The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 on determining when an investment or fi nancial asset 

is other-than-temporarily impaired. This determination requires signifi cant judgement. The Group 

evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 

or fi nancial asset is less than its cost, including factors such as industry and sector performance, 

changes in technology and operational and fi nancing cash fl ow.

 

  Contract revenue

  Construction contract accounting requires that variations, claims and incentive payments only be 

recognised as contract revenue to the extent that it is probable that they will be accepted by the 

customer. As the approval process often takes some time, a judgement is required to be made of 

its probability and revenue recognised accordingly.

4. Financial Instruments

 (a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

  The Group’s activities exposed it to a variety of fi nancial risks, including the effects of currency risk, 

interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course of the Group’s business. 

The Group’s fi nancial risk management policy seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 

fi nancial performance of the Group by managing the following risks in the manner set out below:

4.1 Currency risk

 The Group operates mainly in Australia, with certain operations in Singapore and Malaysia. Group sale 

and purchase transactions are primarily denominated in Australian dollar with a portion denominated 

in Singapore dollar. This exposes the Group to currency risk when future commercial transactions and 

recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

The Group does not use derivative fi nancial instruments to protect against the volatility associated with 

foreign currency transactions, however, the directors constantly monitor the currency rates to ensure the 

Group’s exposure is within an acceptable level.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

4. Financial Instruments (cont’d)
 
4.2 Interest rate risk

 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk related mainly to its bank borrowings, which is on fl oating rate 

terms.  Interest rates on the short-term loans are fi xed.  The interest rate and terms of repayment of bank 

loans and cash balances of the Group are disclosed in Notes 13 and 15 respectively.

 The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available for its borrowings and bank 

deposits. Bank deposits are placed where the interest rates are benefi cial whilst at the same time mitigate 

the risk of market changes in interest rate.

 The tables below set out the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risks.  Included in the 

tables are the assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing 

or maturity dates.

 The Group

Variable Rates Fixed Rates

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

At 30 June 2007

Assets
Cash and cash

 equivalents 4,677 – 11,999 – – – 16,676

Trade and other

 receivables – – – – – 64,538 64,538

Other fi nancial assets – – – – – 8,396 8,396

Non-fi nancial assets – – – – – 43,310 43,310

Total assets 4,677 – 11,999 – – 116,244 132,920

Liabilities
Borrowings 3,829 5,803 – – – – 9,632

Other fi nancial

 liabilities – – – – – 46,151 46,151

Non-fi nancial liabilities – – – – – 1,405 1,405

Total Liabilities 3,829 5,803 – – – 47,556 57,188
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

4. Financial Instruments (cont’d)
 
4.2 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

 The Group (cont’d)

Variable Rates Fixed Rates

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

At 30 June 2006

Assets
Cash and cash

 equivalents 3,767 – 22,626 – – – 26,393

Trade and other

 receivables – – – – – 40,433 40,433

Other fi nancial assets – – – – – 10,759 10,759

Non-fi nancial assets – – – – – 22,129 22,129

Total assets 3,767 – 22,626 – – 73,321 99,714

Liabilities
Borrowings 4,856 7,905 – – – – 12,761

Other fi nancial

 liabilities – – – – – 39,742 39,742

Total Liabilities 4,856 7,905 – – – 39,742 52,503



53

A
u

s
G

ro
u

p

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p

o
rt 2

0
0
7

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

4. Financial Instruments (cont’d)
 
4.2 Interest rate risk (cont’d)

 The Company

Variable Rates Fixed Rates

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing Total

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

At 30 June 2007

Assets
Cash and cash

 equivalents 857 – 11,733 – – – 12,590

Trade and other

 receivables – – – – – 70 70

Other fi nancial assets 4,562 – – – – 2,940 7,502

Non-fi nancial assets – – – – – 22,310 22,310

Total assets 5,419 – 11,733 – – 25,320 42,472

Liabilities
Other fi nancial

 liabilities – – – – – 306 306

Total Liabilities – – – – – 306 306

At 30 June 2006

Assets
Cash and cash

 equivalents 527 – 10,614 – – – 11,141

Trade and other

 receivables – – – – – 178 178

Other fi nancial assets 11,090 – – – – – 11,090

Non-fi nancial assets – – – – – 10,492 10,492

Total assets 11,617 – 10,614 – – 10,670 32,901

Liabilities
Other fi nancial

 liabilities – – – – – 482 482

Total Liabilities – – – – – 482 482



54

A
u

s
G

ro
u

p

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p

o
rt 2

0
0
7

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

4. Financial Instruments (cont’d)

4.3 Credit risk

 The Group has no signifi cant concentration of credit risk.

 The Group’s trade receivables are mainly from Australian based companies operating in the oil and 

gas, mining and resource support industries.  As the directors believe that all trade receivables are fully 

collectible, no allowance for impairment was made.

 The carrying amount of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial statements, represents the Group’s 

maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or other security 

obtained.

 The Group places its cash with Australian and Singaporean reputable banking institutions.

4.4 Liquidity risk

 The Group maintains a suffi cient level of cash and bank balances and has available an adequate amount 

of committed loans granted by the banks to meet its working capital requirements.

 As at 30 June 2007, the Group has net current assets of AUD$42,519,000 (2006: AUD$33,125,000).  

The Group is not exposed to signifi cant liquidity risk.

4.5 Fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

 The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities recorded in the fi nancial statements 

approximate their respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies 

disclosed in Note 2 to the fi nancial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Freehold 
land

Freehold 
buildings

Leasehold 
land & 

buildings
Plant & 

equipment Total
AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

2007
The Group
Cost

At 1 July 2006 2,951 5,682 – 16,772 25,405

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 6,311 5,947 12,258

Additions – 78 8 7,065 7,151

Disposals – – – (468) (468)

Currency alignment – – (571) (709) (1,280)

At 30 June 2007 2,951 5,760 5,748 28,607 43,066

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2006 – 332 – 5,906 6,238

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – 2,408 218 2,626

Depreciation charge – 218 345 3,261 3,824

Reversal of impairment

 loss – – (462) – (462)

Disposals – – – (261) (261)

Currency alignment – – (411) (67) (478)

At 30 June 2007 – 550 1,880 9,057 11,487

Net carrying amount 
 at 30 June 2007 2,951 5,210 3,868 19,550 31,579

2006
The Group
Cost

At 1 July 2005 1,379 2,699 – 11,549 15,627

Acquisition of subsidiary 1,572 2,428 – 762 4,762

Additions – 311 – 4,920 5,231

Disposals – – – (215) (215)

Reclassifi cation – 244 – (244) –

At 30 June 2006 2,951 5,682 – 16,772 25,405

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2005 – 51 – 3,773 3,824

Depreciation charge – 214 – 2,308 2,522

Disposals – – – (108) (108)

Reclassifi cation – 67 – (67) –

At 30 June 2006 – 332 – 5,906 6,238

Net carrying amount 
 at 30 June 2006 2,951 5,350 – 10,866 19,167
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

5. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

 (a) Additions during the fi nancial year include AUD$1,931,926 (2006: AUD$2,132,000) of plant and 

equipment acquired under fi nance leases.

  The carrying amount of plant and equipment held under fi nance leases as at 30 June 2007 

amounted to AUD$6,980,000 (2006: $6,287,000).

 (b) The Group has pledged freehold land and buildings, leasehold buildings and certain plant and 

equipment, having a carrying amount of approximately AUD$15,031,000 (2006: AUD$8,037,000) 

to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

 (c) The directors of the Group carried out a review of the recoverable value of its leasehold buildings 

as at the end of the fi nancial year. This review led to the recognition of a reversal of impairment 

loss of AUD$462,000 (2006: nil).

 The Group’s freehold land and buildings comprise:

Location Description
Approximate 

Site Area Built up Area
(sq m) (sq m)

(i) 15 Beach Street

Kwinana

Western Australia

Australia

Offi ce & fabrication facilities 31,258 9,118

(ii) 4 (Lot 430) Beach Street

Kwinana

Western Australia

Australia

Offi ce & fabrication facilities,

commercial units

24,104 5,921

 The Group’s leasehold land and buildings comprise:

Location Description
Approximate 

Site Area Built up Area
(sq m) (sq m)

(i) 14 Tuas Link 1

Singapore 638596

Offi ce & fabrication & machining

facilities

4,118 2,,801

(ii) 4 Tuas Link 1

Singapore 638591

Offi ce & fabrication & machining

facilities

4,131 2,922
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

6. Goodwill

The Group
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

At beginning of the year 1,490 1,343

Acquisition of subsidiaries 7,507 147

Currency translation differences 267 –

At end of the year 9,264 1,490

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units 

(CGU’s) that are expected to benefi t from that business combination.  The carrying amount of goodwill 

has been allocated as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Engineering Division – comprising the Group’s oil & gas and

resources business units 8,708 989

Service Division – comprising the Group’s services business unit 556 501

9,264 1,490

 The recoverable amounts of the CGU’s are determined from value in use calculations.  The key 

assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and 

direct costs during the periods.  Management estimates discount rates using a pre-tax rate that refl ects 

the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the CGU’s.

 The Group prepares cash fl ow forecasts derived from the most recent fi nancial budgets approved by 

management for the next three years and extrapolates cash fl ows for the following three years based on 

an estimated growth of 9% (2006: 10%).

 The rate used to discount the forecast cash fl ows of the relevant CGU’s was 8.2% (2006: 5.1%).

 Management believes that the carrying amount of goodwill is not more than its recoverable amount.

7. Investments in Subsidiaries and Associated Company

The Company
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Equity Investment at Cost

At beginning of the year 10,492 10,492

Acquisition during the year 12,788 –

Currency translation differences (970) –

At end of the year 22,310 10,492
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

7. Investments in Subsidiaries and Associated Company (cont’d)
 

Name of Company Principal Activity

Country of 
Business/ 

Incorporation

Equity Holding

2007 2006

Subsidiaries

AGL Asia Pte Ltd  Dormant Singapore 100% 100%

AGL Cactus Pte Ltd  Investment holding Singapore 100% –

Companies held by AGL Cactus

Cactus Engineering & Trading 

 Pte Ltd 

 Engineering and service Singapore 100% –

Cactus Oil & Gas Sdn Bhd (5)  Engineering and service Malaysia 100% –

Ausclad Group of Companies Ltd (1)  Investment holding/

 corporate services

Australia 100% 100%

AGC Services Pty Ltd (1)  Maintenance Australia 100% 100%

AGC Refractory Pty Ltd (1)  Trustee company Australia 100% 100%

AGC Industries Pty Ltd (1)  Engineering and service Australia 100% 100%

Ausclad Commercial Industries 

 Pty Ltd (1) (2)

 Rental of vehicles Australia 100% 100%

AGC Technologies Pty Ltd (1) (3)  Pipeline contracting Australia 100% 100%

Clad Limited (1)  Investment holding Australia 100% 100%

Seagate Structural Engineering 

 Pty Ltd

 Property Australia 100% 100%

Associated Company

Trade Fast (WA) Pty Ltd (4)  Dormant Australia 50% 50%

Unit Trust

AIS Refractory Unit Trust (1)  Refractory linings Australia 100% 100%

 (1) Audited by another member fi rm of Moore Stephens International Limited of which Moore Stephens, 

Singapore is a member.

 (2) Ceased operations on 30 June 2002

 (3) Ceased operations on 31 October 2003

 (4) Cost of investment less than AUD$1,000

 (5) For the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements, management accounts made up to 

30 June 2007 were used as the company has yet to change its fi nancial year end from 31 

December to 30 June, to be co-terminus with the ultimate holding company. The subsidiary’s 

fi nancial statements are not material to the Group.

 Acquisition of Subsidiary

 During July 2006, the Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital of AGL Cactus Pte Ltd for 

a consideration of AUD$12,788,000, by way of AusGroup shares at S$0.2812 each. The acquired 

subsidiary contributed group revenue of AUD$28,948,000 and net profi t of AUD$3,562,000 to the Group 

for the period from July 2006 to June 2007. The subsidiary’s group assets and liabilities at 30 June 2007 

were AUD$16,333,000 and AUD$7,156,000 respectively. The fair value of identifi able net assets of the 

acquired company, which approximate its carrying value as at the date of acquisition and the net cash 

outfl ow on acquisition are set out under the consolidated cash fl ow statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

8.  Due from Subsidiaries

The Company
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Current

Advances to subsidiaries – non-trade – 11,090

Non-Current

Advances to subsidiaries – non-trade 7,502 –

 As at 30 June 2007, advances to subsidiaries were unsecured and not required to be repaid within the 

next twelve months. Out of these advances, an amount of AUD$4,625,000 bears interest at 5.25% per 

annum, which is Singapore prime overdraft rate plus 1%. 

 As at 30 June 2006, advances to subsidiaries were unsecured, repayable on demand on a cash basis 

and incurred interest at  8% per annum, which was Singapore prime overdraft rate plus 2%. The loan 

was repaid in full during the year.

9. Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities)

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 

current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate 

to the same fi scal authority.  The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the 

balance sheet as follows:

 

The Group
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Deferred tax assets: 

- to be recovered within 12 months – 1,137

- to be recovered after 12 months 2,467 335

2,467 1,472

Deferred tax liabilities:

- to be settled within 12 months – (42)

- to be settled after 12 months (1,404) (269)

(1,404) (311)

Net deferred tax assets 1,063 1,161
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

9. Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) (cont’d)

 The movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows:     

    

The Group
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year 1,161 (414)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (1,415) (131)

Tax charge to income statement

 - current year 960 1,340

 - overprovision of prior period 147 366

 - effect of changes in rate 104 –

Currency translation difference 106 –

Balance at end of fi nancial year 1,063 1,161

   

 The movement in the deferred tax assets/(liabilities) during the fi nancial year is as follows:

  

Deferred tax assets
Provision 

and Accruals
Foreign 

Exchange Other Total
AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

2007

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year 1,241 221 10 1,472

Credited/(charged) to income statement

 - current year 1,122 (221) 94 995

Balance at end of fi nancial year 2,363 – 104 2,467

2006

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year 670 – – 670

Acquisition of a subsidiary 120 – – 120

Credited to income statement

 - current year 350 221 10 581

 - overprovision of prior period 101 – – 101

Balance at end of fi nancial year 1,241 221 10 1,472
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

9. Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilities) (cont’d)
 

Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation 
and Capital 

Works

Joint 
Venture 

Distribution Total
AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

2007

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year (211) (100) (311)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (1,415) – (1,415)

(Charged)/credited to income statement

 - current year (135) 100 (35)

- overprovision of prior period 147 – 147

- effect of rate change 104 – 104

Credited to equity 106 – 106

Balance at end of fi nancial year (1,404) – (1,404)

2006

Balance at beginning of fi nancial year – (1,084) (1,084)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (251) – (251)

Credited to income statement

 - current year 40 719 759

 - overprovision of prior period – 265 265

Balance at end of fi nancial year (211) (100) (311)

10. Construction Contracts

The Group
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profi t less recognised losses 

 to date 84,453 62,819

Less: Progress billings (80,133) ( 57,718)

4,320 5,101

Comprising:

Contract work in progress 8,396 10,759

Excess of progress billings over contract work in progress (4,076) (5,658)

4,320 5,101
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

11. Trade Receivables

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Third parties 62,924 40,126 – –

 At 30 June 2007, retentions held by customers for contract work amounted to AUD$4,798,739 (2006: 

AUD$5,278,789).

 At 30 June 2007, all amounts included in trade receivables and arising from construction contracts are 

due for settlement within 12 months (2006: 12 months).

 Trade receivables were denominated in the following currencies:

 

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Singapore dollar 5,715 – – –

Australian dollar 57,209 40,126 – –

62,924 40,126 – –

12. Other Receivables and Prepayments

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Prepayments 20 – – –

Deposits 1,354 – – –

Sundry debtors 240 307 70 178

1,614 307  70 178

 Other receivables and prepayments were denominated in the following currencies:

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Singapore dollar 1,399 178 70 178

Australian dollar 215 129 – –

1,614 307 70 178
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

13.  Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Cash and bank balances 4,677 3,767 857 527

Fixed deposits 11,999 22,626 11,733 10,614

16,676 26,393 12,590 11,141

Cash and cash equivalents are

 denominated in the following 

 currencies:

Australian dollar 1,660 14,832 – –

Singapore dollar 14,843 11,141 12,590 11,141

British pound – 418 – –

US dollar 173 1 – –

NZ dollar – 1 – –

16,676 26,393 12,590 11,141

 The effective deposit interest rates ranged from 1.00% to 6.35% (2006: 0.06% to 5.65%) per annum.

14. Issued Capital

The Group and Company
No. of 
issued
shares Share capital

Share 
premium Total

’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

2007
Balance at beginning of fi nancial year 339,477 30,371 – 30,371

Proceeds from share issue 54,478 12,788 – 12,788

Balance at end of fi nancial year 393,955 43,159 – 43,159

2006
Balance at beginning of fi nancial year 300,000 11,720 9,316 21,036

Proceeds from share issue 39,477 9,551 – 9,551

Share issue expenses – (216) – (216)

Transfer share premium to share capital – 9,316 (9,316) –

Balance at end of fi nancial year 339,477 30,371 – 30,371

 The Company issued 54,477,773 ordinary shares at S$0.2812 per share on 28 July 2006 in consideration 

of the purchase of a 100% equity interest in AGL Cactus Pte Ltd.

 The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the previously issued shares.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

15. Borrowings

The Group
2007 2006

Note AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Current

Bank loans (a), (c) 1,643 6,350

Obligations under fi nance leases & hire purchase (d) 2,186 1,506

3,829 7,856

Unsecured

Insurance premium funding – 49

Total Current 3,829 7,905

Non-current

Secured

Bank loans (a), (c) 1,610 –

Obligations under fi nance leases & hire purchase (d) 4,193 4,856

Total Non Current 5,803 4,856

Total interest bearing liabilities 9,632 12,761

(a) Total current and non-current secured liabilities 

Bank loans 3,253 6,350

Obligations under fi nance leases and hire purchase 6,379 6,362

9,632 12,712

(b) Assets pledged as security

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets pledged 

as security for:

Bank facilities 99,923 93,081

Finance leases and hire purchase 6,980 6,287

 (c) Bank loan and overdraft facilities  

    

  (i) The banking facilities provided to the Group are secured by the following:

  

   Australian Operations

   Mortgages and charges provided by the company to:

    St Georges Bank

    Deed of set-off and charge over AusGroup Limited’s various cash deposits given by 

AusGroup Limited

    Unlimited guarantee and indemnity given by AusGroup Limited.

    Equitable mortgage over shares of Ausclad Group of Companies Limited given by 

AusGroup Limited

    Deed of set-off and charge over funds in foreign currency accounts given by 

AusGroup Limited 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

15. Borrowings (cont’d)
 

 (c) Bank loan and overdraft facilities (cont’d)

 

  (i) The banking facilities provided to the Group are secured by the following:

  

   Australian Operations (cont’d)

  

   Mortgages and charges provided by subsidiary companies to:

    St Georges Bank

    First registered fi xed & fl oating charges over the assets and undertakings of 

Ausclad Group of Companies Limited, AGC Industries Pty Ltd & Seagate Structural 

Engineering Pty Ltd.

    First registered real property mortgage by Ausclad Group of Companies Limited 

over the commercial property located at 15 Beach Street, Kwinana WA 6167

    First registered real property mortgage by Seagate Structural Engineering Pty Ltd 

over the commercial property located at Lot 430 Beach Street, Kwinana WA 6167

    Deed of set-off and charge over funds in foreign currency accounts given by 

Ausclad Group of Companies Limited 

    Deed of set-off and charge over AGC Industries Pty Ltd over various cash deposits 

given by AGC Industries.

    Unlimited guarantee and indemnity given by Ausclad Group of Companies Limited 

and AGC Industries Pty Ltd and Seagate Structural Engineering Pty Ltd.

   Singapore Operations

   Mortgages & charges provided by Cactus Engineering & Trading Pte Ltd to:

    DBS Bank Limited

    A fi rst fi xed charge over certain machinery, equipment and vehicles on term loans 

provided by the bank

    Legal assignment of insurance policies relating to the equipment and the term loan 

equipment

    Legal assignment of all trade receivables from the respective pre-approved trade 

debtors fi nanced under BRS.

    Corporate guarantee from AusGroup Limited.

    Oversea Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

    First open legal mortgage over the property at 14 Tuas Link 1, Singapore 638596, 

or, where applicable, deed of assignment and mortgage signed in escrow.

    Deed of guarantee and indemnity for all monies from AusGroup Limited

    United Overseas Bank Limited

    First open legal mortgage over the property at 4 Tuas Link 1, Singapore 638596

    Corporate guarantee from AusGroup Limited
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

15. Borrowings (cont’d)

 (c) Bank loan and overdraft facilities (cont’d)

  (ii) The bank loans carried interest rates of between 5.00% to 9.75% (2006: 7.18%) per 

annum.

  

The Group
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

(iii) Bank loans are due as follows:

Within one year 1,643 6,350

Between two and fi ve years 1,581 –

Later than fi ve years 29 –

3,253 6,350

Less: amount due for settlement within 12 months (1,643) (6,350)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1,610 –

  (iv) All borrowings are arranged at fl oating rates and denominated in either Australian dollars, 

amounting to AUD$643,000 or Singapore dollars, amounting to AUD$2,610,000. The 

average interest rates for the year were:

   

    Australia

   - Bank overdraft – 9.75% (2006: 9.5%) per annum

   - Bank loan – 7.18% (2006: 7.18%) per annum

    Singapore

   - Bank overdraft – 4.25% (2006: n/a) per annum

   - Bank loans – 5.00% to 5.75% (2006: n/a) per annum
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

15. Borrowings (cont’d)

 (d) Obligations Under Finance Leases and Hire Purchase

Minimum 
Lease 

Payments

Present 
Value of 

Minimum 
Lease 

Payments

Minimum 
Lease 

Payments

Present 
Value of 

Minimum 
Lease 

Payments
2007 2007 2006 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Within one year 2,562 2,186 1,879 1,506

Between two and fi ve years 4,526 4,193 5,373 4,856

Later than fi ve years – – – –

Minimum Lease Payments 7,088 6,379 7,252 6,362

Less future fi nance charges (709) – (890) –

Present value of lease 

 obligations 6,379 6,379 6,362 6,362

Less amount due for settlement

 within 12 months (2,186) (1,506)

Amount due for settlement after

 12 months 4,193 4,856

  It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under fi nance leases.  The 

average lease term is 3 to 5 years.  For the year ended 30 June 2007, the average effective 

interest rate was 8.63% (2006: 8.64%) per annum.  Interest rates are fi xed at the contract date.  

All leases are on a fi xed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for 

contingent rental payments.

  The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amounts.  The Group’s 

obligations under fi nance leases are secured by the lessors’ charges over the leased assets.

16. Other Payables

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Accruals 11,789 7,043 292 208

Less amount due for settlement 

 within 12 months (8,899) (4,167) (292) (208)

Amount due for settlement after 12

 months 2,890 2,876 – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

16. Other Payables (cont’d)
 
 Other payables were denominated in the following currencies:

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Singapore dollar 983 – – –

Australian dollar 10,806 7,043 292 208

11,789 7,043 292 208

17. Trade Payables

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Third parties 17,704 20,243 75 41

 Trade payables were denominated in the following currencies:

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Singapore dollar 1,929 – – –

Australian dollar 15,775 20,243 75 41

17,704 20,243 75 41

18. Provisions for Other Liabilities and Charges

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Annual leave 3,527 2,556 – –

Redundancy fund/rostered day 

 off*/sick leave 2,533 625 – –

Long service leave 826 382

Fringe benefi t tax 221 173 – –

7,107 3,736 – –

 * The rostered day off provision relates to the mandatory accrual of entitlements for those employees who are 

employed pursuant to enterprise bargaining agreements in Australia.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

19. Revenue

The Group

Year ended 
30.6.2007

Year ended 
30.6.2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Contract revenue 281,131 240,049

20. Other Operating Income

The Group
Year ended 
30.6.2007

Year ended 
30.6.2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Interest income 630 303

Reversal of impairment loss on leasehold building 462 –

Other revenue 843 480

1,935 783

21. Profi t from Operations

The Group
Year ended 
30.6.2007

Year ended 
30.6.2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Profi t from operations has been determined after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

 - included in cost of sales 3,196 1,971

 - included in administrative expenses 628 551

3,824 2,522

Inventories written off 930 –

Profi t on disposal of property, plant and equipment (112) (4)

Operating lease expense 1,541 756

 No non-audit service fees has been paid to auditors of the Company for the current fi nancial year (2006: 

nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

22. Finance Costs

The Group
Year ended 
30.6.2007

Year ended 
30.6.2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Interest expense on:

Bank loans 737 687

Other loans 3 26

Bank guarantee fees and other fees 252 376

Obligations under fi nance leases and hire purchase 497 419

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (237) 758

1,252 2,266

23. Taxation

The Group
Year ended 
30.6.2007

Year ended 
30.6.2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Profi t before taxation 27,059 15,883

(a) Prima facie taxation calculated at applicable rate 

on Profi t before tax 7,643 4,698

Tax effect of non-deductible items 56 4

Income not subject to tax (173) –

Effect of changes in rate (104) –

Overprovision of tax in prior years (271) (98)

Taxation expense 7,151 4,604

(b) Major components of taxation

Current tax expense 8,490 6,042

Deferred tax expense

 - origination and reversal of temporary differences (954) (1,340)

 - effect of change in tax rate (104) –

Under/(Over)provision of tax in prior years

- current tax expense (134) 268

- deferred tax expense (147) (366)

7,151 4,604
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

24. Earnings per Share

 The calculation of basic earnings per ordinary share is based on the Group’s net profi t attributable to 

equity holders of the Company divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the fi nancial year as follows:

2007 2006
Number of 

shares
Number of 

shares

Issued and paid-up ordinary shares as at 30 June 393,954,773 339,477,000

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Profi t attributable to equity holders of the Company 19,133 11,279

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue 389,924,910 306,273,000

Basic earnings per share (cents) 4.9 3.7

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 4.9 3.7

25. Employee Compensation 

The Group

Year ended 
30.6.2007

Year ended 
30.6.2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Salaries and related costs 93,291 80,403

Employer’s contributions to defi ned contribution plans 6,689 4,053

99,980 84,456

26.  Related Party Transactions

 Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors.  Parties are 

considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise signifi cant 

infl uence over the other party in making fi nancial and operating decisions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

26.  Related Party Transactions (cont’d)

 Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of those, on 

the basis determined between the parties, is refl ected in these fi nancial statements.

The Group
Year ended 
30.6.2007

Year ended 
30.6.2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

(a) Director – related entities

(i) Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (“AIS”) 

An entity related to Mr Barry Alfred Carson and Bain

Corporation Pty Ltd (a substantial shareholder)

Supply of materials 323 493

(ii) Glenkarri Pty Ltd

An entity related to Mr Barry Alfred Carson, 

Mr Stuart Maxwell Kenny and Mr James Finbarr Fitzgerald

Interest paid to Glenkarri Pty Ltd – 26

(b) Key management personnel compensation 

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefi ts 3,449 1,975

Post-employment benefi ts – superannuation 324 281

Termination benefi ts – 92

3,773 2,348

 Included in the above is total compensation to executive directors and non-executive directors of the 

Company of AUD$1,744,000 (2006: AUD$869,000).

27. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

 (a) Capital commitments

  

  Capital expenditures contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the fi nancial 

statements are as follows:

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Property, plant and equipment 13,168 1,788 – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

27. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (cont’d)

 (b) Operating lease commitments 

 

  The Group leases various properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  The 

leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

 

  The Group also leases various plant and machinery under cancellable operating lease agreements.  

The lease expenditure charged to the income statement during the fi nancial year is disclosed in 

Note 21.

 

  The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted 

for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Not later than one year 1,998 802 – –

Later than one year but not later

 than fi ve years 1,571 781 – –

Later than fi ve years 2,426 – – –

5,995 1,583 – –

 (c) Bank guarantees

  Bank guarantees to a total of AUD$18,658,000 (2006: AUD$13,396,000) have been issued on 

behalf of the Group by its bank to secure contract performance obligations.

 (d) Contingent liability – Thiess-AGC Joint Venture

  Claims by AGC Industries Pty Ltd amounting to $1.2 million against the Thiess-AGC joint venture 

and counter claims by the joint venture against AGC Industries Pty Ltd amounting to $2.5 million 

are still in the process of being resolved.  In the opinion of the Directors, based on legal advice 

received, no further provision for claims against AGC Industries Pty Ltd is required to be made out 

at 30 June 2007.

28. Dividends

 At the Annual General Meeting to be held on 22 October 2007, a fi rst and fi nal exempt (one-tier) dividend 

of 0.61 cents in Singapore dollar per share amounting to a total of S$2,400,000 will be recommended. 

These fi nancial statements do not refl ect this dividend, which will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity 

as an appropriation of retained earnings in the fi nancial year ending 30 June 2008.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

29. Segmental Information

 (a) Primary reporting format – business segments 

 

  The Group’s principal business segments are Engineering and Services business segments.

  For fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

Engineering 
Division

Services 
Division Total

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Revenue 234,416 46,715 281,131

Segment results 25,597 1,734 27,331

Corporate Offi ce 350

Interest income 630

Interest expense (1,252)

Profi t before taxation 27,059

Taxation (7,151)

Net profi t for the year 19,908

Segment assets 102,884 13,981 116,865

Unallocated assets 16,055

Total assets 132,920

Segment liabilities 36,012 6,425 42,437

Unallocated liabilities 5,119

Interest-bearing liabilities 9,632

Total liabilities 57,188

Capital expenditure 6,865 286 7,151

Depreciation 3,581 243 3,824

Provisions 5,757 1,350 7,107
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

29. Segmental Information (cont’d)

 (a) Primary reporting format – business segments (cont’d)

 

  For fi nancial year ended 30 June 2006

Engineering 
Division

Services 
Division Total

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Revenue 194,636 45,413 240,049

Segment results 12,547 4,981 17,528

Corporate Offi ce 318

Interest income 303

Interest expense (2,266)

Profi t before taxation 15,883

Taxation (4,604)

Net profi t for the year 11,279

Segment assets 58,504 12,557 71,061

Unallocated assets 28,653

Total assets 99,714

Segment liabilities 30,787 5,894 36,681

Unallocated liabilities 3,060

Interest-bearing liabilities 12,762

Total liabilities 52,503

Capital expenditure 4,322 909 5,231

Depreciation 2,092 430 2,522

Provisions 3,026 710 3,736
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

29. Segmental Information (cont’d)

 (b) Secondary reporting format – geographical segment 

       

  The Group’s geographical segmentation of revenue is based on the country in which the 

engineering and maintenance services are conducted.  The Group’s signifi cant operations are 

currently conducted in the Commonwealth of Australia and Singapore. 

   

The Group
2007 2006

AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Revenue
Singapore 28,948 –

Australia 252,183 204,049

281,131 204,049

Total Consolidated Assets
Singapore 23,408 –

Australia 109,512 99,714

132,920 99,714

Capital Expenditure
Singapore 1,367 –

Australia 5,784 5,231

7,151 5,231

30. Events Occurring After Balance Sheet Date

 a) Sale and purchase agreement

  On the 17th of August 2007, the company’s subsidiary, Cactus Engineering and Trading Pte Ltd, 

signed a sale and purchase agreement to acquire 36 Tuas Road Singapore 638505 for S$13.5 

million. The approximate land area is 30,000 m2 and is a ready to function as industrial space and 

is complimented by facilities such as workshop space of 2,800 m2 and buildings and offi ces of 

about 5,000m2.

 b) Bank guarantees

  On the 29th of August 2007, Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations Pty Ltd, who held two 

unconditional bank guarantees from a subsidiary company, AGC Industries Pty Ltd, to the 

value of AUD$2,006,608, presented a request to our Australian bankers to draw on both these 

guarantees. Under the terms of the guarantees the bankers were obliged to pay the sum 

guaranteed as requested. AGC Industries Pty Ltd has been working closely with the client and 

has been responding to matters raised by the client. At this time, Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations 

Pty Ltd have still not presented the subsidiary with details of its claims against the company, if 

any,  to support their decision to draw down on the guarantees. AGC Industries Pty Ltd has thus 

resorted to its contractual rights and issued a notice of dispute with the client which formally starts 

the dispute resolution process. Until such time as further information comes to hand, the directors 

are unable to assess the potential impact, if any, on the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2007

31. Comparative Figures

 Comparative amounts have been reclassifi ed to present the income statement more closely in alignment 

with the requirement of FRS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements as follows: 

Currently 
presented

Previously
presented Difference

AUD$’000 AUD$’000 AUD$’000

Cost of sales 201,420 199,449 1,971

Administrative expenses 9,392 8,841 551

Depreciation and amortisation – 2,522 (2,522)
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SHAREHOLDER STATISTICS
As at 31 August 2007

Class of Equity Security :  Ordinary shares 

Voting rights :  On a show of hands : one vote for each member 

  On a poll : one vote for each ordinary share

Analysis of Shareholdings

Range of Shareholdings No. of 
Shareholders % No. of Shares %

1 – 999 8 0.37 1,343 0.00

1,000 – 10,000 1,520 69.98 8,839,749 2.24

10,001 – 1,000,000 620 28.55 37,494,976 9.52

1,000,001 and above 24 1.10 347,618,705 88.24

2,172 100.00 393,954,773 100.00

Top 20 Shareholders

No. Name No. of Shares %

1 OCBC Securities Private Ltd   56,633,368 14.38 

2 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd          42,639,000 10.82 

3 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 35,622,283 9.04 

4 DBSN Services Pte Ltd         34,448,117 8.74 

5 Emerald River Pty Ltd 25,408,896 6.45 

6 James Finbarr Fitzgerald and Olive Teresa Fitzgerald 23,481,798 5.96 

7 Barry Alfred Carson and Jennifer Margaret Carson 20,651,518 5.24 

8 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd    19,113,000 4.85 

9 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 18,282,930 4.64 

10 Merrill Lynch (S) Pte Ltd 13,745,000 3.49 

11 Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd.  12,891,793 3.27 

12 CIMB-GK Securities Pte Ltd 11,250,002 2.86 

13 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd  6,191,000 1.57 

14 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 5,472,000 1.39 

15 Aranda Investments Pte Ltd 3,524,000 0.89 

16 Raffl es Nominees Pte Ltd 3,485,000 0.88 

17 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd          3,390,000 0.86 

18 DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 2,730,000 0.69 

19 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 2,144,000 0.54 

20 Macquarie Securities (S) Pte Ltd 1,699,000 0.43 

342,802,705 86.99

Shareholdings held in hands of public

Based on information available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Company as at 31 August 

2007, approximately 55.6% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore, 

Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by SGX-ST is complied with.
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SHAREHOLDER STATISTICS
As at 31 August 2007

Substantial Shareholders as at 31 August 2007
 

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
Substantial Shareholders No. Of Shares %  No. Of Shares %  

Emerald River Pty Ltd (as trustee for The Kenny 

Family Trust) 

25,408,896 6.45 – –

Stuart Maxwell Kenny – – 25,408,896 (1)  6.45

Faye Lorraine Kenny – – 25,408,896 (2) 6.45

James Finbarr Fitzgerald and Olive Teresa Fitzgerald 

(as trustees for The JF & OT Fitzgerald Family Trust)

23,481,798 5.96 – –

Barry Alfred Carson and Jennifer Margaret Carson 

(as trustees for the Carson Family Trust)

20,651,518 5.24 21,068,502 (3) 5.35

Bain Corporation Pty Ltd (as trustee for The Bain 

Family Investment Trust)

15,835,866 (4) 4.02 21,068,502 (5) 5.35

Bradley John  Bain – – 36,904,368 (6) 9.37

Carol Anne Bain – – 36,904,368 (7) 9.37

Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee

for the AIS Unit Trust)

21,068,502 (8) 5.35 – –

Bains Group Holdings Pty Ltd – – 21,068,502 (9) 5.35

Insul Nominees Pty Ltd – – 21,068,502 (10) 5.35

JPMorgan Chase & Co. and its affi liates – – 39,587,100 (11) 10.05

Deutsche Bank AG – – 28,761,000 (11) 7.30

DB Financial Services Holding GmbH – – 28,761,000 (11) 7.30

DB Capital Markets (Deutschland) GmbH – – 28,761,000 (11) 7.30

DWS Investment GmbH 8,397,000 (11) 2.13 18,274,000 (11) 4.64

DWS Holding & Service GmbH – – 26,671,000 (11) 6.77

Notes:

(1) Stuart Maxwell Kenny is deemed to be interested in the 25,408,896 shares held by Emerald River Pty Ltd (as trustee for 

The Kenny Family Trust).

(2) Faye Lorraine Kenny is deemed to be interested in the 25,408,896 shares held by Emerald River Pty Ltd (as trustee for 

The Kenny Family Trust).

(3) Barry Alfred Carson and Jennifer Margaret Carson (as trustees for the Carson Family Trust) are deemed to be interested 

in the 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust).  The 

21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust) are registered in 

the name of a nominee.

(4) The 15,835,866 shares held by Bain Corporation Pty Ltd (as trustee for The Bain Family Investment Trust) are registered 

in the name of a nominee.

(5) Bain Corporation Pty Ltd (as trustee for The Bain Family Investment Trust) is deemed to be interested in the 21,068,502 

shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust).  The 21,068,502 shares held 

by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust) are registered in the name of a nominee.
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SHAREHOLDER STATISTICS
As at 31 August 2007

(6) Bradley John Bain is deemed to be interested in the 15,835,866 shares held by Bain Corporation Pty Ltd (as trustee 

for The Bain Family Investment Trust) and the 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as 

trustee for the AIS Unit Trust).  The 15,835,866 shares held by Bain Corporation Pty Ltd (as trustee for The Bain Family 

Investment Trust) and the 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit 

Trust) are registered in the name of  nominees.

(7) Carol Anne Bain is deemed to be interested in the 15,835,866 shares held by Bain Corporation Pty Ltd (as trustee 

for The Bain Family Investment Trust) and the 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as 

trustee for the AIS Unit Trust). The 15,835,866 shares held by Bain Corporation Pty Ltd (as trustee for The Bain Family 

Investment Trust) and the 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit 

Trust) are registered in the name of  nominees.

(8) The 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust) are registered 

in the name of a nominee.

(9) Bains Group Holdings Pty Ltd is deemed to be interested in the 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation 

Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust). The 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty 

Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust) are registered in the name of a nominee.

(10) Insul Nominees Pty Ltd is deemed to be interested in the 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty 

Ltd (as trustee for the AIS Unit Trust). The 21,068,502 shares held by Australasian Insulation Supplies Pty Ltd (as trustee 

for the AIS Unit Trust) are registered in the name of a nominee.

(11) As notifi ed to the Company.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of AusGroup Limited (the “Company”) will be held 

at Function Room D, Level 2, M Hotel Singapore, 61 Anson Road, Singapore 079908 on Monday, 22 October 

2007 at 3.00 p.m. for the following purposes:-

Ordinary Business

1 To receive and adopt the audited fi nancial statements for the year ended 30 June 2007 and the reports 

of the directors and auditors thereon.

2 To declare a fi rst and fi nal one-tier tax exempt dividend of Singapore 0.61 cents per ordinary share for the 

year ended 30 June 2007.

3 To approve directors’ fees of S$342,950 for the year ended 30 June 2007. (2006: S$299,500).

4.1 To re-elect Mr James Finbarr Fitzgerald, a director who will retire by rotation in accordance with  Article 

91 of the Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

4.2 To re-elect Mr Kok Pak Chow, a director who will retire by rotation in accordance with  Article 91 of the 

Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

 Note:  Mr Kok Pak Chow, if re-elected as a director, will remain a member of the audit committee, a member of the 

nominating committee and a member of the remuneration committee.

4.3 To re-elect Dr Chew Kia Ngee, a director who will cease to hold offi ce in accordance with  Article 97 of 

the Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

 Note: Dr Chew Kia Ngee, if re-elected as a director, will remain a member and the chairman of the audit committee 

and a member of the remuneration committee.

4.4 To re-elect Mr Tan Hup Foi, a director who will cease to hold offi ce in accordance with  Article 97 of the 

Company’s Articles of Association and who, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

 Note: Mr Tan Hup Foi, if re-elected as a director, will remain a member of the nominating committee. 

5 To re-appoint Moore Stephens as auditors of the Company and to authorise the directors to fi x their 

remuneration.

Special Business

6 To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass, with or without any modifi cations, the following resolutions as 

ordinary resolutions:-

6.1 That authority be and is hereby given to the directors of the Company to:-

 (a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; 

and/or

  (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 

require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well 

as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

 

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as 

the directors may in their absolute discretion deem fi t; and
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

 (b) (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this resolution may have ceased to be in force) 

issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the directors while this resolution 

was in force,

 provided that:-

 (A) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including shares to be 

issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) does not exceed 

50% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-

paragraph (B) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a 

pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance of 

Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) does not exceed 20% of the issued 

shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (B) below);

 (B) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange 

Securities Trading Limited) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that 

may be issued under sub-paragraph (A) above, the percentage of issued shares shall be based 

on the number of issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this 

resolution, after adjusting for:-

  (i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share 

options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time of the 

passing of this resolution; and

  (ii) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

 (C) in exercising the authority conferred by this resolution, the Company shall comply with the 

provisions of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time 

being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

 (D) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this 

resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 

Company or the date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by 

law to be held, whichever is the earlier. 

6.2 That authority be and is hereby given to the directors of the Company to grant awards in accordance 

with the rules of the AusGroup Share Scheme (the “Share Scheme”) and to allot and issue from time to 

time such number of new shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant 

to the Share Scheme, provided always that the aggregate number of new shares to be issued pursuant 

to the Share Scheme and all other share based incentive schemes of the Company shall not exceed 15% 

of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company from time to time. 

6.3 That authority be and is hereby given to the directors of the Company to offer and grant options in 

accordance with the rules of the AusGroup Employee Share Option Scheme 2007 (the “2007 Scheme”) 

and to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital of the Company as may be 

required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options under the 2007 Scheme, provided always 

that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the 2007 Scheme and all other share 

based incentive schemes of the Company shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares in 

the capital of the Company from time to time. 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

7 To transact any other business as can be transacted at an annual general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Grace C P Chan and Corine B E Lim 

Company Secretaries

Singapore

28 September 2007

Notes

A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint not more than two proxies to attend and 

vote on his behalf.  Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be 

represented by each proxy.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.  The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 

must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 138 Robinson Road #17-00, The Corporate Offi ce, Singapore 

068906 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the meeting.

Statement Pursuant To Article 54 Of The Company’s Articles Of Association

(i) The ordinary resolution proposed in item 6.1 above is to empower the directors to issue shares in the 

capital of the Company and to make or grant instruments (such as warrants or debentures) convertible 

into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to an amount not exceeding in 

total 50% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company, with a sub-limit of 20% for issues other 

than on a pro rata basis to shareholders.  For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares 

that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the number of issued shares in 

the capital of the Company at the time that the resolution is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares 

arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting of share 

awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time the resolution is passed, and (b) any subsequent 

consolidation or subdivision of shares.

(ii) The ordinary resolution proposed in item 6.2 above is to empower the directors to grant awards and to 

allot and issue new shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the AusGroup Share Scheme (the 

“Share Scheme”), provided that the aggregate number of new shares to be issued pursuant to the Share 

Scheme and all other share based incentive schemes of the Company does not exceed 15% of the total 

number of issued shares in the capital of the Company from time to time.

(iii) The ordinary resolution proposed in item 6.3 above is to empower the directors to offer and grant options 

and to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to the AusGroup Employee Share 

Option Scheme 2007 (the “2007 Scheme”), provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued 

pursuant to the 2007 Scheme and all other share based incentive schemes of the Company shall not 

exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company from time to time.
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NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE AND DIVIDEND PAYMENT DATES

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the share transfer books and register of members of AusGroup Limited (the 

“Company”) will be closed on 31 October 2007 for the purpose of determining members’ entitlements to the fi rst 

and fi nal one-tier tax exempt dividend of Singapore 0.61 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 30 June 

2007.

Duly completed transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Private Limited at 138 

Robinson Road #17-00, The Corporate Offi ce, Singapore 068906 up to 5.00 p.m. on 30 October 2007 will be 

registered before members’ entitlements to the dividend are determined.

Members whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with shares at 5.00 

p.m. on 30 October 2007 will be entitled to the dividend.

The dividend, if approved by members at the Company’s annual general meeting to be held on 22 October 

2007, will be paid on 12 November 2007.

By Order of the Board

Grace C P Chan and Corine B E Lim 

Company Secretaries

Singapore

28 September 2007



AUSGROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated In The Republic Of Singapore)

Company Registration No. 200413014R

PROXY FORM

 

I/We , NRIC/Passport no.  

of 

being a member/members of AusGroup Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/
Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/
Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the annual 

general meeting of the Company to be held at Function Room D, Level 2, M Hotel Singapore, 61 Anson Road, Singapore 

079908 on Monday, 22 October 2007 at 3.00 p.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions 

as set out in the notice of annual general meeting.  In the absence of specifi c directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or 

abstain as he/they may think fi t, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the annual general meeting.)

No. Resolutions For Against

1 Adoption of audited fi nancial statements and reports

2 Declaration of a fi rst and fi nal one-tier tax exempt dividend

3 Approval of directors’ fees

4.1 Re-election of  Mr James Finbarr Fitzgerald as director

4.2 Re-election of  Mr Kok Pak Chow as director

4.3 Re-election of  Dr Chew Kia Ngee as director

4.4 Re-election of  Mr Tan Hup Foi as director

5 Re-appointment of Moore Stephens as auditors

6.1 Renewal of share issue mandate 

6.2 Authority for directors to grant awards and to allot and issue new shares in 

accordance with the rules of the AusGroup Share Scheme

6.3 Authority for directors to offer and grant options and to allot and issue shares in 

accordance with the rules of the AusGroup Employee Share Option Scheme 2007  

Dated this  day of  2007

 

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT
PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

IMPORTANT 

1 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy AusGroup 

Limited’s shares, this annual report is forwarded to them at the 

request of their CPF approved nominees and is sent solely FOR 

INFORMATION ONLY.

2 This proxy form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be 

ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 

used by them.

3 CPF investors who wish to attend the annual general meeting 

as OBSERVERS have to submit their requests through their 

respective agent banks so that their agent banks may register with 

the company secretaries of AusGroup Limited.

Total Number of Shares Held



Notes

1 Please insert the total number of shares held by you.  If you have shares entered against your name in the 

Depository Register (as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50), you should insert that number.  If 

you have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number.  

If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the 

Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number.  If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be 

deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2 A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies 

to attend and vote on his behalf.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3 Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be 

represented by each proxy.  

4 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered offi ce at 138 Robinson 

Road #17-00, The Corporate Offi ce, Singapore 068906 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the 

holding of the meeting.

5 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be signed by the appointor or his attorney.  Where the instrument 

appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed under its common seal or signed on 

its behalf by an attorney or a duly authorised offi cer of the corporation.

6 Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or 

power of attorney or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged 

with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

7 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person 

as it thinks fi t to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, 

Cap. 50.

8 The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible 

or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed 

in the instrument of proxy.  In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may 

reject an instrument of proxy if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his 

name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certifi ed by 

The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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